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MEMORIALS OF NEPAUL.

CHAPTER 1.

TERMINATION OF THE FIRST CAMPAIGN.

WE left Sir D. Ochterlony, in position, on
the further side of the Maloun range, with
Colonel Arnold, at Rutunghur, between the
enemy and Belaspore; while Colonel Cooper
was left to reduce the forts of the Ramgurh
range ; the first of these attacked was Ramgurh
itself, which, after great exertions, in dragging
up the heavy artillery, was breached at last in
the middle of February.

The garrison capitulated for themselves, and
were allowed to march out with the honours of

VOL. 1I. B
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war ; the two commanders, however, on joining
Umur Sing, at Maloun, were rewarded, Nepaul
fashion, with the loss of their ears and noses;
each of the forts had a garrison of one hundred
men, and one of them would have taken some
days to reduce, even admitting that Ramgurh
could have held out no longer; it was near the
middle of March before Colonel Cooper was
prepared to batter Taragurh, the next place
he attacked: the breach was practicable the
following day, but the garrison evacuated the
fort in the night. Chumba, on the same ridge,
was next attacked, and by the middle of March,
after a day’s battering, the garrison hung out
the white flag, and surrendered prisoners of
war. 'The chiefs expressed considerable alarm
lest their families should suffer from Umur
Sing’s severity ; to deceive him, therefore, the
Colonel ordered the guns to continue firing
occasionally blank cartridge, while some of the
prisoners were released that they might en-

deavour to bring away their families from

Maloun.
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The whole of the strong forts in the rear
being thus reduced and occupied, Colonel
Cooper followed the main army to take part
in the last operations against Maloun, and
by the middle of April all was prepared for
a combined movement, the plan of whith
the General had been for some time consider-
ing; our immediate object was to effect a
lodgment within the series of heights that
formed Umur Sing’s present position.

His line stretched between the stone forts
of Maloun and Soorujgurh, presenting to
the view a series of connected peaks, more
or less abrupt, and each crowned with a stock-
ade, excepting two, which had the names of
Ryla peak and Deothul.  The former was
conveniently situated for operations against
Soorujgurh, which it would effectually cut off
from Maloun; the latter was in the very
heart of the Nepaulese position, and not
one thousand yards from Maloun itself.

It was to be expected that the whole force
of the Nepaulese would oppose the occupation

B 2
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of Deothul, which was the main object of
attack.  Sir David Ochterlony reckoned,
however, that even if he failed there, the
possession of Ryla would still be a great
advantage, and that the movement on both
pdints at the same time would contribute to
distract the enemy. To assist the enterprise
further, a diversion was planned by other
detachments, which were directed to march
right upon the enemy’s cantonment under
the walls of Maloun.

It will be proper to explain this movement
more in detail.  Five columns altogether
were put in motion, besides detachments for
the diversion, and the following was the part
assigned to each.

The first from Pulta, one of the posts
opposed to Soorujgurh, on the enemy’s extreme
right, consisted of two light companies of
the 19th N.I. under Lieutenant Fleming,
who, attended by a strong body of irregulars,
was to make a secret night movement on Ryla,
and there show a light as a signal for the
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movement of the other columns. Immediately
on seeing it, Captain Hamilton was to march
on the same point with his own and Lieutenant
Lidlie’s detachments, assembled for the purpose
at Iynugur, while a Grenadier battalion from
head-quarters under Major Innes moved simulta-
neously in the same direction.  This force
was destined to support Lieutenant Fleming
and to occupy Ryla; while Major Lawrie with
the 2nd battalion of the 7th N.I. from his
position at Kalee to the right, and Lieutenant
Colonel Thompson with the 2nd battalion of
the 3rd N.I, from Sir David Ochterlony’s
head-quarters, were to lead each separate
column on Deothul, and two field pieces were
attached to the latter for the defence of the
position when occupied. = Two smaller detach-
ments, one led by Captain Bowyer, and the other
by Captain Showers, and consisting each of
three companies, besides irregulars, were to
move from opposite sides direct upon the

Nepaulese cantonment, in order to create the
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diversion above alluded to in aid of the occupa-
tion of Deothul.

Ryla was occupied by Lieutenant Fleming in
the course of the night of the 14th, and at the
sight of the signal, by which it was preconcerted
that notice of this event should be communi-
cated, Captain Hamilton and Major Innes
marched on the same point, and in the course
of the morning established themselves without
meeting any opposition. The signal being
repeated from a conspicuous station behind the
General’s camp, the two columns under Colonel
Thompson and Major Lawrie marched imme-
diately to the Gumrora, and waiting there till
daylight moved from opposite directions on
Deothul. They just met at the last ascent,
and pushed on together to seize the point, at
about ten in the morning, when a contest com-
menced as severe as any in which our native
troops have ever been engaged. As the head
of the first column approached the summit of
Deothul, a picquet of not more than twenty
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or thirty Nepaulese charged fearlessly on the
advance guard, and occasioned a check that
was near proving fatal to the success of the
movement. The exertions of the officers, how-
ever, particularly of Major Lawrie, restored the
men to a sense of duty, and they advanced
boldly and dislodged the enemy as well from
Deothul as from other posts in the immediate
neighbourhood. The day was spent in desultory
fighting about the position, and every exertion
was made 1n the evening, and during the night
to throw up defences about Deothul in the con-
viction that the struggle for the post had yet to
come.

The Nepaulese had been occupied during the
day in opposing and pursuing the detachments
of Captains Showers and Bowyer, which had
thus completely succeeded in withdrawing their
attention from the main object. The former
officer marched from Rutunghur, and early in
the day found himself within the stockades of
the enemy. He was of a peculiar chivalrous
spirit, and thinking he had instilled the same
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ardour and fearlessness into his men, urged
them to trust only to the bayonet, and in
this view he commanded them not to load.
As the column approached the cantonments,
abody of Nepaulese came boldly down upon
them, when Captain Showers stepped forward to
lead the projected charge; the Sepoys, however,
not being on ground where they could form
readily, proved unequal to the trial, and the
captain was left alone to stand the shock. A
personal combat ensued with the Nepaulese
chief, and he was slain by the Captain, who
happened to be an excellent swordsman. This
brave officer was, however, shot dead imme-
diately afterwards, which completed the confu-
sion. |

The detachment fled precipitately as far as
Lag village, and were pursued by the Nepaulese.
This spot being however open, the men were
rallied by Lieutenant Rutledge; and having
had time to load, offered a successful opposition,
and again assumed the offensive.

Captain Bowyer in the meantime had marched
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from Kalee at daybreak, and reached the point
assigned to him as a post of observation by
seven 1n the morning ; there he was attacked,
and maintained himself till noon; when, per-
cetving the entire failure of Captain Showers,
and thus seeing the impossibility of converting
the feint into anything more beneficial, he
commenced a retreat in the face of the enemy.

The retreat was executed with field-day pre-
cision, one half of the detachment retiring to
position, and the other following under cover
of its fire. The Nepaulese, who had anticipated
confusion, and the destruction of the column,
continued engaged in a fruitless pursuit during
a great part of the day, but could effect nothing
beyond occasioning a -few casualties.  They
were thus effectually drawn away from the
more important post at Deothul, which was
in the meantime occupied, and secured as we
have before mentioned.

The night was one of anxiety to both parties.
Bhugtee Thapa, or more properly Bukhtyar
Thapa, Umur Sing’s best officer, saw from

B 3



10 MEMORIALS OF NEPAUL.

Soorujgurh the serious character of the ope-
ration intended ; he accordingly left that place,
with a chosen band, to take part in the struggle
which impended. The absolute necessity of
dislodging the British from Deothul, was but
too apparent to Umur Sing and his council.
There were, however, two complete battalions
now established there, besides irregulars, and
two pieces of field artillery had been brought
up and placed in position, to say nothing of
the works hastily prepared. The élite of the
Nepaulese army were in this emergency col-
lected, and two thousand more than could well
operate at once on the broken ground of the
ridge, were placed under the personal command
~of Bhugtee Thapa for the attack of Deothul
next morning. Umur Sing himself also re-
solved to appear in the field with his youngest
son, the only one with him, in order to en-
courage and support the attack.

Agreeably to the arrangements thus deter-
mined upon, the British position at Deothul was
attacked at once on all sides where it was
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accessible just at daybreak, on the morning
of the 16th of April. The Nepaulese came
on with furious intrepedity so much so that
several were bayoneted or cut to pieces within
our works. Umur Sing stood all the while
just within musket range with the Nepaulese
colours planted beside him, while Bhugtee was
everywhere exciting the men to further efforts.
The Nepaulese particularly aimed at gaining
possession of our guns, and directed their fire
with so much effect against the artillery men
that at one time three officers, Lieutenant
Cartwright, Lieutenant Hutchinson, of the
Engineers, and Lieutenant Armstrong of the
Pioneers, were with one artilleryman the only
persons remaining to serve them. The British
commandant at Ryla, perceiving the desperate
nature of the struggle at Deothul, sent a rein-
forcement with ammunition, which arrived very
opportunely.  After a contest of two hours
continuance without intermission, the Nepaulese
being observed to slacken their efforts, it was
resolved to assume the offensive, and drive them
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back. Major Lawrie led this charge, and Bhugtee
Thapa being killed in it, the enemy was every
where put to flight, and the victory decided.

There were two hundred and thirteen killed
and wounded on the side of the British, and
the enemy left above five hundred men on the
ground about the post of Deothul. In the
course of the day, they sent to request permis-
sion to seek the body of Bhugtee Thapa, and
it was found covered with wounds close to the
foot of our defences. Sir David Ochterlony
ordered it to be wrapped in shawls and delivered
to Umur Sing in order to testify the respect his
bravery had excited.

The total less incurred in the operations of
the 15th and 16th of April was, two officers,
three Soobadars, four Naiks, and fifty-two
Sepoys killed, and five officers, one serjeant, and
two hundred and eighty-seven men wounded.

Taken altogether, this approached more
nearly to a general action than any event that
occurred in the campaign, and it was a proud

triumph to the officers of the Indian army to
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have achieved so complete a victory on ground
which gave such great advantages to the enemy,
and with numbers so nearly equal, for not one
half of Sir David’s army were engaged.

The dispositions for the operations exhibited
wonderful skill, and the precision with which
the movement of the different detachments was
calculated, reflects the greatest credit on those
who collected the intelligence, and furnished
the materials on which the plan was combined.

Lieutenant Lawtie, of the Engineers, was the
most valuable instrument of those to whose
exertions the General was indebted on the oc-
casion. This young officer had, as field engineer,
directed the operations of the late successful
sieges under Colonel Cooper, and there had
not been' a movement or enterprise undertaken
by the division since it took the field, that had
not benefited by his profeésional zeal, activity,
and penetration. His ardour in examining all
the routes by which the Maloun position was
to be approached, with a view to provide every

possible contingency or mishap, led him into
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exertions that produced a fever, of which he
died in the beginning of May ; but he had the
satisfaction of first seeing the completion of
the triumph he so essentially contributed to
secure.

Sir David Ochterlony, who considered nothing
done while anything remained, set himself im-
mediately to prepare a road for heavy artillery
to Deothul, and to strengthen Maloun by closing
his positions round it. The Nepaulese likewise
concentrated themselves about Maloun, with-
drawing their garrisons from all the positions
on the further side of Deothul, and even from
Soorujgurh, though a place of some strength.
The evacuation of this post gave Lieutenant
Murray an opportunity of shewing his activity
and vigilance, by intercepting and dispersing
the garrison as it retired.

By the end of the first week in May, a
battery was raised against Maloun, and news
of the fall of Almorah having reached the
Nepaulese camp, all the Sirdars urged Umur
Sing to accept terms for himself and his son
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Runjoor at Jytuck. The old chief was however
obstinate in refusing, and endeavoured with
much earnestness to persuade his men, that
if they did but hold out till the approaching
rains, the British army would be obliged to
withdraw.

Seeing the pertinacity of his refusal, the
Sirdars began to desert with their men, until
at last only about two hundred remained
faithful to Umur Sing. With these he retired
into the fortress of Maloun until the batteries
were in readiness to open on its walls. Yielding
at last to his fate, this proud chief, on the
15th May, signed a capitulation, in which
it was agreed that the Nepaulese, or Goorkha
nation should retire to the east of the Kalee,
or Gogra, and resign to the British all the
provinces from Kumaon westward. Runjoor
Sing was of course included in these terms,
and the father and son, after giving orders
for the surrender of all the remaining garrisons,

were safely conducted, with all who chose to
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accompany them, to the other side of the Kalee,
as stipulated.

Many of the Nepaulese soldiers took service
with the British, and three battalions were, at
the suggestion of Sir David Ochterlony, formed
of them, and called Nuseeree battalions. A
provincial corps was likewise raised for Kumaon
civil duties, in order to allow a further opening
for the employment of the military classes.

Thus the campaign, which in January
promised nothiﬁg but disaster, finished 1n
May by leaving in the possession of the
British the whole tract of hills from the
Gogra to the Sutlej. A very few words will
suffice to explain the nature of the arrange-
ments made for the occupation and manage-
ment of this tract. ~Kumaon was made a
province of the British territory, and the
Honourable Edward .Gardner was appointed
Commissioner, with full power for the admi-
nistration of its affairs. The Doon was

likewise retained, and annexed ultimately to
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the Seharunpoor district. The remainder of
the hill-country was restored to the several
Rajahs and chiefs from whom Umur Sing had
conquered it, with exception to Subathoo, Raeen-
gurh, Nahn, and one or two other places,
which were made military posts for the
Nuseeree battalions.

The principle adopted was, to place all
the chiefs in precisely the same condition as
they stood with respect to each other before
the appearance of the Nepaulese, and to leave
them each in the free enjoyment of his own,
under the general protection of the British
Government. Mr. Frazer, the political agent
attached to the force of General Martindell,
was, In the first instance, Invested with the
duty of introducing ‘this system ; and for that
purpose, some time before the surrender of
Jytuck, he undertook a journey into Gurhwal,
and afterwards made a tour of the principal
places in the hills, where he was instrumental
m confirming the Rajahs and Thakoors in the
assurance of their security, and in reconciling
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them to the new state of things. Ultimately,
Gurhwal being restored to its Rajah, the
superintendence of the affairs of all the
western chiefs was vested in Bir David
Ochterlony, on whose part a military assistant
was appointed to reside at Subathoo.
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CHAPTER II.

NEGOCIATIONS OF PEACE.

In hazarding a breach with the British
government, the Nepaulese had never specu-
lated on rousing it to such exertions as they
witnessed in the first campaign.  Notwith-
standing their early successes, therefore, they
very soon repented of the rash measures by
which they had brought themselves into so
hopeless a contest. Even when at the height
of their prosperity, the immensity of the prepar-
ations, and the perseverance of their enemy
convinced them their cause was desperate, and

they would willingly have given up every object
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in dispute, could they by that means have
brought the war to an honourable termination.
They were prepared also for some sacrifices, if
such should be required.

It appears, from an intercepted letter,
addressed to Umur Sing from the Rajah, on
the 2nd March, 1815, that immediately on
the fall of Nalapanee, he was consulted as to
the policy of giving up the Dehra Doon and
the hilly tract west of the Jumna, in addition
to the contested lands on the Sarun and
Goruckpore frontiers.  That chief’s opinion
was adverse to any cession of hill territory.
Though vested, therefore, with power to
negociate on this footing, if the plan had met
his approval, he never indicated to Sir David
Ochterlony any disposition to treat on such a
basis. |

Upon the conquest of Kumaon, the Nepaulese
Governor of that province, Bum Sah, a man of
some consideration in the state, expressed much
desire to be the means of re-establishing the

former relations between the two powers, and
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the occasion was taken of assuring the Court
of Khatmandoo, through him, that the British
government entertained a reciprocal anxiety to
restore the ancient good understanding.

After the campaign had closed so trium-
phantly for us, the desire for peace seemed to
have increased at the capital of Nepaul. Most
of the chiefs appeared to have become sensible
that their confidence of security In the rugged-
ness of their mountains was a vain illusion, and
although a considerable faction still maintained
their hostile disposition, all parties united in
the wish to discover on what terms peace
would be granted. Accordingly in May 1815,
Gooroo Gujraj Misur, the family priest of
the Rajah was sent down from Khatmandoo with
full powers under the red seal, and with in-
structions to negociate with Major Bradshaw,
the British political agent in that quarter, an
entire adjustment of all differences.

This overture was met by an unreserved
disclosure of the sacrifices which Lord Hastings

conceived himself to be now justified in demand-
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ing. They were: First, The perpetual cession
of all the hill-country taken in the campaign,
viz: from the Kalee, westward. Secondly,
A like cession of the entire Turai from the
foot of the outer hills along the whole line of
the remaining territory of the Goorkhas.
Thirdly, The relinquishment by the Goorkhas
of the footing they had gained in the territory
of the Sikhim Rajah, and the surrender to that
chief of the stockaded forts of Nagree and
Nagurkot; and finally the reception of a
Resident with the usual escort and establishment
at Khatmandoo, and the customary stipulation
not to receive or give service to Europeans
without the special sanction of the govern-
ment. ,

Major P. Bradshaw stated to the Gooroo
that he could not negociate except on this
basis, and the Gooroo declaring he had no
authority to treat for any cession in the Turai,
excepting the disputed tracts, the overture was

broken off, and Gujraj Misur returned to
Khatmandoo.
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From a hope that other negociators might be
more accommodating, the Goorkha court em-
powered Bum Sah to make a second overture
to the Honourable E. Gardner, who was now
civil commissioner for the management of the
province of Kumaon. That officer had been
instructed as to the manner in which such
an overture was to be received. Accordingly,
the reply to Bum Sah being similar in every
respect to that made to the Gooroo, the negocia-
tion in that quarter was similarly broken off.

In the meantime, the army, which had been
collected on the Sarun frontiers, was cantoned
to the north of the Ganges, or at Dinapoor,
the cantonment of Patna; and was kept in
a state of equipment to be ready to take the
field immediately the favourable season should
return.

The Marquis of Hastings thinking that
a second campaign might be inevitable, de-
termined on so conducting it, as to humble
the proud spirit of the Nepaulese chiefs; or
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if that were impossible, to crush this ambitious
and aspiring nation for ever.

Preparation was made for penetrating, with
a brigade from Kumaon, where Lieutenant
Colonel J. W. Adams, a most excellent and
steady officer, had succeeded Colonel Nicolls,
while the latter was to operate aganst the
Bhotwal and Palpa frontier with the army
of General Wood considerablv reinforced.  Sir
David Ochterlony was at the same time to
be summoned from the north-west to take
the command of the Sarun troops, which
were destined to penetrate into the valley of
Nepaul.

Although provision was thus made for
pushing the war with vigour, the efforts
of the government to re-establish peace were
not relaxed; for many powerful considera-
tions made this much the most desirable
consummation at the juncture. It was with
satisfaction, therefore, government learnt that

the negociation was re-opened by the Gooroo
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who came again into the Turai, in August, for
the purpose. |

The Marquis of Hastings had, in the
interim, ascertained that a main objection to the
relinquishment of the Turai was, that most
of the principal officers of the Nepaulese court
had jageers there. = Accordingly, to reconcile
them to the cession, and to show that the
British government did not desire it from any
avaricious motive, his Lordship authorised his
negociator to tender the amount of the estimat-
ed revenue in stipends, to be at the distribution
of the Court of Khatmandoo. The annual
assignment thus sanctioned, amounted to
between two and three lacs of rupees, (£20,000
and £30,000) and his Lordship justly consi-
dered that a permanent peace was worth this
sacrifice.

The Gooroo was made acquainted with the
liberal disposition of the government, but after
some consideration, he again broke off the
negociation in September, declaring that the
Nepaulese chiefs would never accede to a

VOL. II. c
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cession of the whole Turai, which was the main
source of their subsistence, the hills themselves
being comparatively unproductive.

The Marquis of Hastings, having maturely
welghed the matter, resolved to proceed a step
further for re-establishment of peace. It
seemed evident, from what had passed, that no
advantage offered in other shape would com-
pensate to the Nepaulese government for the
entire loss of the Turai and forests under the
hills. That Court’s repugnance to the cession
was ascertained to be owing to the high
estimate of the pecuniary value of the territory
which was entertained by the chiefs rather than
to any feeling of pride or objection to the
humiliation of the step. The reception of a
Resident was the article most offensive to them
on this score; but this had been insisted on as
a sine qud non ; and finding there was no hope
of procuring a change, the Nepaulese had con-
ceded the point. The Turai was, therefore, the
only question remaining for discussion. For
the last year that the British authorities had
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held the greater part of the tract, its manage-
ment had been found very troublesome and
expensive, and the climate was so noxious as to
render the continuance in it of troops, and even
of civil officers, impracticable for a large portion
of the year. To us, therefore, the accession of
territory promised little advantage, but much
trouble and difficulty in the maintenance of the
rights and privileges whence the revenue was
derived. The demand of the cession, 1t 1s to be
observed, chiefly originated in a desire (by
exclusion of the Nepaulese from any interest in
the lowlands), to take away the source of future
contention, and at the same time to inflict an
appropriate punishment for the encroachments,
and other acts of violence and 1nsult, which had
brought on the war; the hope of profit in the
tract formed no part of the motives which
influenced the British government. Balancing
the acquisition of the above objects, therefore,
against the advantage of a restoration of peace,
Lord Hastings finally determined to relax the

rigour of the original terms; and a treaty was
c 2
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drafted, which the British negociator was
desired to present openly to the Gooroo, In case
of his expected re-appearance, accompanied by a
declaration, that it contained the British ultima-
tum. In the draft, the Turai, from the Kaleet
or Western Gogra, to the Gunduk, was all that
was insisted on, and of the rest, so much only
as was in our actual possession. Stipends to
the extent of two lacs of rupees (£20,000) were
still offered to be placed at the distribution of
the court in compensation for the retained lands,
and the draft contained a stipulation to this
effect.

As was expected, the Raj Gooroo again
sought out Major Bradshaw, and on this oc-
casion Chunder Seekur Opadheea, who, at the
close of the campaign, had been allowed to
return to Khatmandoo, was associated with him.
The drafted treaty was shown to them, when
both declared they could not venture to accede
to the terms, even as altered, without first sub-
mitting the draft to the Court. They engaged,

however, that a definitive answer should arrive
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in fifteen days, and forwarded a copy of the
proposed treaty to Khatmandoo for the purpose.

The term expired without their receiving any
reply, and the negociators, being unable to
redeem their pledge, begged submissively that
the negociation might not be broken off, until
they should themselves go to Khatmandoo and
ascertain the cause. The Gooroo at the same
time offered to sign the treaty, if the portion
of Tural in the British occupation, viz., that
lying between the Gunduk and Koosa were
substituted for the offered stipends. This was
refused, and the negociators took their leave on
the 29th of October, promising to return in
twelve days with the treaty signed.

The Supreme government, on hearing of the
continued reluctance of the Nepaulese, called on
the authorities in charge of the contiguous
districts, to state their opinion as to the value
of the several portions of the Turai, and the
means of obtaining a good frontier line by the
retention of part only of what had been occu-

pied; thus preparing itself to make some
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further gratuitous concessions, either in lieu of
the stipends, or in addition to them, In order
the better to gratify the Nepaulese chiefs, and
leave them in a disposition to execute and
maintain the treaty when signed.

In the meantime the Raj Gooroo Gujra
Misur came down again from Khatmandoo, and
signed the treaty according to the original draft.
This was done at Segoulee, on the 28th of
November, 1815. The Supreme government,
on being apprised of the event, fired the usual
salutes, and ratified the treaty on the 9th of
December with due solemmity. It was deter-
mined, notwithstanding, to make the further
concessions contemplated ; and i1t was considered
fortunate that the execution of the treaty with-
out them, would yet more decidedly mark the
act as a gratuitous bounty towards a fallen and
suppliant foe. The conciliatory effect of the
boon on the Sirdars would likewise, it was con-
ceived, be enhanced by their not feeling them-
selves indebted for it to their own obstinacy,

either in war or negociation.
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In the confidence of its own liberal views
towards the Nepaulese, the British government
never doubted the sincerity of the enemy. The
very earnestness of their opposition in the
course of the negociation seemed to show that
the acceptance of the proffered terms was the
deliberate act of the Court, and though their
assent was unwilling, and tardy in the extreme,
still this seemed to be fully accounted for by
being attributed to the reluctance with which
they entered into engagements they felt to be
inviolable.

Adopting this view, the Governor-General
reckoned that so soon as his further intentions
for the benefit of the nation should be made
known, the partial discontent which existed
would give place to general satisfaction, and
that all parties would be thankful for the
restoration of peace. In this impression, the
government hesitated not to suspend the pre-
parations which had hitherto been actively
making for a second campaign; and the

comrnissariat officers, in their zeal for economy,
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went beyond the bounds of due discretion, and
discharged a great part of the establishments
which had been entertained for the transport of
stores, selling also much of the grain which
had been collected in the frontier depdts.

Of this precipitancy there was soon reason
to repent. It was a stipulation of the treaty
that the ratification under the red seal should
be delivered to Lieutenant-Colonel Bradshaw in
fifteen days. The period expired, and no
ratification came; wmoreover, it was ascertained
in the course of the month of December, that,
after several very animated discussions at the
Court of Khatmandoo, the war faction had
again prevailed over that which favoured the
Gooroo and his late negociations. Hence a
renewal of hostilities was all that could be
looked for, though it was of course expected to
be the policy of the Nepaulese to waste as
much of the season of action as possible by
amusing us with fresh offers to negociate.

In order to anticipate such an attempt, and
to show the serious light in which the past
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conduct of the court of Khatmandoo was re-
garded. Sir David Ochterlony was forthwith
ordered into the field, and every possible exer-
tion was made to furnmish the stores and
establishments requisite to give efficiency to his
army. A letter was also written to the Rajah
of Nepaul complaining of his want of faith,
and warning him of the approach of the British
army. He was told, however, that the consec-
quences might yet be averted, by sending the
treaty, duly ratified, to meet the General in the
Tural.

A word or two may be required in order.
to explain the motives which seemed, at this
time, to influence the Nepaulese councils. The
non-ratification of the treaty of Segoulee has
not ordinarily been attributed to any settled
plan of deceit practised on the British Govern-
ment, but it must be admitted that the time
of the Raj Gooroo’s signing, which was just
that at which the army would otherwise have
taken the field, is a very suspicious circum-

stance. There seems reason, however, to believe
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that the Raj Gooroo was himself sincere, and
that the disavowal of his act was the result of
a divided sentiment amongst the chiefs, part of
whom strenuously advocated the necessity of
accepting the terms offered, while others as
violently opposed the measure.

The veteran, Umur Sing, and his sons who
had recently arrived at the capital were amongst
the warmest partizans of the war. Some
notion of the proud spirit which actuated this
chief may be formed from the intercepted
letter written by him in March 1815, when
he himself was closely beset on every side
by the army of Sir David Ochterlony,
against which he felt he could make no
head. As the document is highly charac-
teristic and shows the hopes which buoyed
up the war faction in their determination to
persevere rather than submit to what they
deemed the first step to subjection. It may
not be out of place to give it at length,

though it has already been more than once
before the public.
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“ A copy of your letter of the 23rd December,
addressed to Runjoor Sing, under the Red Seal,
was sent by the latter to me, who have received
it with every token of respect. It was to the
following purport :

“'The capture of Nalapanee, by the enemy, has
been communicated to me from Gurhwal and
Kumaon, as also the intelligence of his having
marched to Nahn: having assembled his force,
he now occupies the whole country from Bara-
pursa to Subturee and Muhotree. My army is
also secretly posted in various places in the
jungles of the mountains ; an army under a
general, has arrived in Goruckpore for Palpa,
and another detachment has reached the borders
of Beejypoor. I have further heard that a general
officer has set off from Calcutta to give us further
trouble. For the sake of a few trifling objects,some
intermediate agents have destroyed the mutual
harmony, and war 1s waging far and wide. All
this you know. You ought to send an embassy
to conciliate the English, otherwise the cause is

lost. The enemy, after making immense prepa-
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rations, have begun the war; and unless great
concessions are made, they will not listen to
terms. To restore the relations of amity by
concession 1s good and proper ; for this purpose
it is fit, in the first place, to cede to the enemy
the departments of Bhotwal, Palpa, and Sheeoraj,
and the disputed tracts already settled by the
commissioners towards Barah.*

“If this be insufficient to establish harmony,
we ought to abandon the whole of the Tura,
the Doon, and the low-lands ; and 1if the
English are still dissatisfied, on account of not
obtaining possession of a portion of the moun-
tains, you are herewith authorized to give up,
with the Doon, the country as far as the Sutlej.
Do whatever may be practicable to restore the
relations of peace and amity, and be assured of
my approbation and assent. If these means be
unsuccessful, it will be very difficult to preserve
the integrity of my dominions from Kunka
Teestta to the Sutlej. If the enemy once

* Meaning the twenty-two villages on the Sarun
frontier.
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obtain a footing in the centre of our territory,
both extremities will be thrown into disorder.

“If you can retire with your army and
military stores to pursue any other plan of
operations that may afterwards appear eligible,
it will be advisable. On this account you ought
immediately to effect a junction with all the
other officers on the western service, and retire
to any part of our territory, which as far as
Nepaul, you may think yourself capable of re-
taining. These are your orders:

“In the first place, after the immense pre-
parations of the enemy, he will not be satistied
with all these concessions, or if he should
accept of our terms, he would serve us as he
did Tippoo; from whom he first accepted of
an indemnification of six crores of rupees in
money and territory, and afterwards wrested
from him his whole country. If we were to
cede to him so much country, he would seek
some fresh occasion of quarrel, and at a future
opportunity would wrest from us other provinces.
Having lost so much territory, we should be

”
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unable to maintain our army on its present
footing; and our military fame being once
reduced, what means should we have left to
defend our Eastern possessions? While we
retain Bisahur, Gurhwal is secure ; if the former
be abandoned, the Bhootees of Ruwain will
certainly betray us.

“Th English having thus acquired the Doon
and Ruwain, it will be impossible for us to
malntain Gurhwal ; and being deprived of the
latter, Kumaon and Dotee will be also lost to
us.  After the seizure of these provinces,
Achain, Joomlee, and Dooloo will be wrested
from us in succession.  You say, ‘that a por-
clamation has been issued to the inhabitants
of the eastern Kurats,” if they have joined the
enemy, the other Kurats will do so likewise ;
and then the country Dood Koosee, on the
east, to Bheeree on the west, cannot be long
retained. Having lost your dominions, what
15 to become of your great military establish-
ments 2  When our power is once reduced, we

shall have another Knox’s mission, under
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pretence of concluding a treaty of alliance and
friendship, and founding commercial establish-
ments. If we decline receiving their mission,
they will insist; and if we are unable to oppose
force, and desire them to come unaccompanied
with troops, they will not comply. They will
begin by introducing a company; a battalion
will soon after follow, and at length an army
will be assembled for the subjection of Nepaul.
You think, that if, for the present, the lowlands,
the Doon, and the country to the Sutlej, were
ceded to them, they would cease to entertain
designs upon the other provinces of Nepaul :
do not trust! they who counselled you to
receive the mission of Knox,* and permit the
establishment of a commercial factory, will
usurp the government of Nepaul.  With
regard to the concessions now proposed, if

you had in the first instance decided upon a

* Meaning apparently that the British would restore
the fallen faction of the Pandes, and by their means

govern Nepaul.
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pacific line of conduct, and agreed to restore
the departments of Bhotwal and Sheeoraj;
as adjusted by the commissioners, the present
contest might have been avoided. But you
could not suppress your desire to retain these
places, and by murdering their revenue officer,
excited their indignation, and kindled a war
for trifles.

“ At Jytuck we obtained a victory over the

enemy. In conjunction with the Seiks, my
army will make a descent into the plains;
and our forces crossing the Jumna from
two different quarters, will recover possession
of the Doon. When we reach Hurdwar, the
Nuwab of Lucknow may be expected to take
a part In the cause; and, on his accession
to the general coalition, we may consider our-
selves secure as far as Khunka. Relying on
your fortune, I trust that Bhulbudder, Koon-
wur and Rewunt Kajee wil soon be able
to reinforce the garrison of Jytuck; and I

hope ere long, to send Punt Kajee with eight
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companies, when the force there will be very
strong. The troops sent by you are arriv-
ing every day, and when they all come up,
I hope we shall succeed both here and at
Jytuck.

““Formerly when the English endeavoured to
penetrate to Sundowlee, they continued for two
years* in possession of Bareh Pursa and
Mubhotree ; but, when you conquered Nepaul,
they were either destroyed by your force, or fell
victims to the climate, with the exception of
a few only who abandoned the place. Orders
should now be given to all your officers to
detend Choudundee, and Choudena in Bejypoor,
and the two Kurats, and the ridge of Mahab-
harut.

“ Suffer the enemy to retain the low-lands for
a couple of years, measures can afterwards
be taken to expel them. Lands transferred

under a written agreement cannot again be

* Alluding to the expedition under Major Kinloch,
when the Turai was occupied for two years, an event
that Umur Sing was old enough to have witnessed.
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resumed ; but if they have been taken by
force, force may be employed to recover them.
Fear nothing, even though the Seiks should not
join us. Should you succeed now in bringing
our differences to an amicable termination by
the cession of territory, the enemy, in the course
of a few years, would be in possession of Nepaul,
as he took possession of the country of Tippoo.

“ The present, therefore, is not the time for
treaty and concihation.  These expedients
should have been tried before the murder of
the revenue officer (in Goruckpore), or must
be postponed till victory shall crown our efforts.
If they will then accede to the terms which
I shall propose, it is well; if not, with the
favour of God, and your fortune and bounty,
it shall be my business to preserve the integrity
of my country from Khunka to the Sutle;.
Let me entreat you, therefore, never to make
peace. Formerly, when some individuals urged
the adoption of a treaty of peace and commerce,
I refused my assent to that measure; I will

not now suffer the honour of my Prince to be
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sullied by concession and submission. If you
are determined on this step, bestow the
humiliating office on him who first advised it.
But for me, call me to your presence; I am
old, and only desire once more to kiss your
feet. I can recollect the time when the
Goorkha army did- not exceed twelve thou-
sand men. Through the favour of Heaven,
and by the valour of your forefathers, your
territory was extended to the confines of
Khunka, on the east.

“Under the auspices of your father, we
subjugated Kumaon, and, through your fortune,
we have pushed our conquests to the Sutlej.

“Four generations have been employed in
the acquisition of all this dignity and dominion.
At Nalapanee, Bhulbudder defeated three or four
thousand of the enemy. At Jytuck, Runjoor
Sing, with his officers, overthrew two battalions.
In this place, I am surrounded and daily
fighting with the enemy, and look forward with
confidence to victory. All the inhabitants and

chiefs of the country have joined the enemy.
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I must gain two or three victories before I
can accomplish the object I have in view, of
attaching Runjeet Sing to our cause.

“ On his accession, and after the advance of
the Sheiks and Goorkhas towards the Jumna,
the chiefs of the Dukhum may be expected to
join the coalition, as also the Nuwab of
Lucknow, and the Salee-Ramee-Leech.*

“Then will be the time for us to drive out
the enemy, and recover possession of the low
countries of Palpa, as far as Bejypoor. If
we succeed In gaining these, we can attempt
further conquest in the plains.

“There has been no fighting in your quarter
yet ; the Choudundee and Choudena of Bejy-
poor, as far as the ridges of Muhabharut and
Sooleeana, should be well defended. Countries
acquired in four generations, under the adminis-
tration of the Thapas, should not be abandoned

for the purpose of bringing matters to an

* It is not known who Umur Sing means by the
Salee-Ramee-Leech, and some other of his names of

places and persons differ from any in common use.
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amicable adjustment without deep and serious
reflection. If we are victorious in the war, we
can easily adjust our differences ; and if we are
defeated, death is preferable to a reconciliation
on humiliating terms. When the Chinese
army invaded Nepaul, we implored the mercy
of heaven by offerings to the Brahmins, and
the performance of religious ceremonies; and
through the favour of one, and intercession
of the other, we suceeeded in repulsing the
enerny.

‘““Ever since you confiscated the Jageers of
the Brahmins, thousands have been in distress
and poverty. Promises were given that they
should be restored at the capture of Kaugrah ;
and orders to this effect, under the red seal,
were addressed to me, and Nyn Sing Thapa.
We failed, however, in that object, and now
there is universal discontent. You ought there-
fore to assemble all the Brahmins, and promise
to restore to them their lands and property,
in the event of your conquering and expelling
the English. By these means many thousand
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worthy Brahmins will put up their prayers
for your prosperity, and the cnemy will be
driven forth. By the practice of charity, the
territory acquired in four generations may be
preserved ; and through the favour of God our
power and dominion may be stil further
extended. By the extension ef territory, our
military establishment may be maintained on
its present footing, and even increased.

‘““The numerous countries which you propose
to cede to the enemy, yielded a revenue equal to
the maintenance of an army of four thousand
men, and Kaugrah might have been captured.
By the cession of these provinces, the reputa-
tion and splendour of your court will no longer
remain. By the capture of Kaugrah your name
would have been rendered formidable ; and
though that has not happened, a powerful
impression has nevertheless been made on the
people of the plains by the extension of your
conquests to the Sutlej. To effect a reconcilia-
tion by the cession of the country to the west
of the Jumna, would give rise to the idea that
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the Goorkhas were unable to oppose the English,
would lower the dignity of your name in the
plains, and cause a reduction of your army to
the extent of four thousand men. The enemy
will, moreover, require the possession of Bisahur,
and after that, the conquest of Gurhwal will be
easy ; nor will it be possible, in that case, for
us to retain Kumaon, and with it we must lose
Dotee, Acham, and Joomlah, whence he may be
expected to penetrate even to Bherce. If the
English once establish themselves firmly in
possession of a part of the hills, we shall be
unable to drive them out : the countries towards
the Sutlej should be obstinately defended ; the
abandonment of the disputed tracts in the plains
1s a lesser evil; the possession of the former
preserves to us the road to further conquest.

“ You ought, therefore, to direct Gooroo
Rungnath Pundit, and Dulbunjun Pandeh, to
give up the disputed lands of Bhotwal,
Sheeoraj, and the twenty-two villages in the
vicinity of the Bareh, and thus, if possible,
bring our differences to a termination. To this
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step I have no objections, and shall feel no
animosity to those who may perform this
service. I must, however, declare a decided
hostility to such as, in bringing about a re-
conciliation with the English, consult only their
own interest, and forget their duty to you. If
they will not accept these terms, what have we
to fear ? The Enghsh attempted to take
Bhurtpore by storm; but the Rajah Runjeet
Sing destroyed an European regiment, and a
battalion of Sepoys. To the present day, they
have not ventured to meddle with Bhurtpore
again ; whence it would seem that one fort has
sufficed to check their progress. In the low
country of Dhurma they established their
authority ; but the Rajah overthrew their army,
and captured all their artillery and stores; and
now lives and continues in quiet possession of
his dominions. Qur proffers of peace and
reconciliation will be interpreted as the result of
fear; and 1t would be absurd to expect that the
enemy will respect a treaty concluded under
such circumstances. Therefore, let us confide
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our fortunes to our swords; and by boldly
opposing the enemy, compel him to remain
within his own territory ; or, if he should
continue to advance, stung with shame at the
idea of retreating, after his immense prepa-
rations, we can then give up the lands in
dispute, and adjust our differences. Such, how-
ever, 1s the fame and terror of our swords, that
Bhulbudder, with a force of six hundred men,
defeated an army of three or four thousand
English.

““ His force consisted of the old Gourukh and
Kurrukh companies, which were only partly
composed of the inhabitants of our ancient
kingdom, and of the people of the countries
from Bheree to Gurhwal; and with these he
destroyed one battalion, and crippled and re-
pulsed another. My army is similarly com-
posed ; nevertheless, all descriptions are eager to
meet the enemy. In your quarter you are
surrounded with the veterans of our army, and
cannot apprehend desertion from them; you
have also an immense militia, and many

VOL. 1II. D
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Jageerdars, who will fight for their own honour
and interests. Assembling the militia of the
low-lands, and fighting in the plains is impolitic;
call them into the hills, and cut the enemy up
by detail, (a passage here the sense of which
cannot be discovered). The enemy is proud,
and flushed with success, and has reduced,
under his subjection, all the Western Zumin-
dars, the Kanas, and Rajah of Kuhlor, and the
Thakooraen, and will keep peace with no one.
Howgver, my advice is nothing. I will direct
Ram Doss to propose to General Ochterlony
the abandonment, on our part, of the disputed
lands, and will forward to you the answer which
he may receive. All the Ranas, Rajas, and
Thakooraen have joined the enemy, and I am
surrounded ; nevertheless, we shall fight and
conquer, and all my officers have taken the
same resolution.

“The Pundits have pronounced the month
of Bysakh®* as particularly auspicious for the
Goorkhas; and by selecting a fortunate day,

* Commencing about the 10th or 12th of April.
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we shall surely conquer. [ am desirous of
engaging with the enemy slowly and with
caution, but cannot manage it, the English being
always first to begin the fight. I hope however,
to be able to delay the battle till Bysakh, when
I will choose a favourable opportunity to fight
them. = When we shall have driven the enemy
from hence, either Runjoor or myself, according
to your wishes, will repair to your presence.

“In the present crisis, it is very desirable
to write to the Emperor of China, and to
the Lama of Lassa, and to the other Lamas;
and for this purpose, I beg leave to submit
the enclosed draft of a letter to their address;
any errors 1n it, I trust, will be forgiven by you,
and I earnestly recommend that you will lose
no time in sending a petition to the Emperor of
of China, and a letter to the Lama.”

Assuming this letter to contain a fair state-
ment of the sentiments of those who advocated

the continuance of war, 1t would seem that
D 2
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suspicion of the ulterior views of the British
was a main ingredient of their present dis-
position. It 1s certain, however, that inde-
pendently of such a suspicion, the events of
the past campaign in the Turai, east of the
Gogra, had filled many of the chiefs with the
most presumptuous confidence in the strength
of the barrier opposed by the forests and hill,
which skirted their eastern territories, and
that the occurrences to the west had very
partially removed this feeling.  From the
Gogra to the Koosee, on a line of near eight
hundred miles, the British armies had been
wholly baffled; and though superior in force
to those which achieved the conquests of the
west, had not even ventured to cross the forest.
Hence the Nepaulese felt assured that they
might persevere in the war with impunity,
so long as they kept the passes of the first
range guarded, and under this impression, they
saw no reason why they should assent to a

permanent relinquishment of their independence
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by receiving a Resident, or give up the ambitious
hope of recovering some part of their lost ter-
ritory in the hills.

In this state of the public feeling at Khat-
mandoo, the treaty of Segoulee was, as we have
before related, finally rejected by the chiefs;
and every precaution taken to fortify and render
impregnable the passes through the first range
of hills. The principle route into the valley of
Nepaul 1s by the Bicheea-Koh pass, which by
distinction 1s called the Chooreea Ghatee or
main pass over the Chooreea hills.  Other
minor passes have occaslonally the same name
applied to them, or at least to that part of the
route by them which leads over the same
range. The grand pass, however, 1s as before
stated by Bicheea-Koh, and this the Nepaulese
defended by three successive fortifications, the
last of which was absolutely impregnable; all
the other known routes were similarly defended,
and in this manner the Nepaulese awaited the
arrival of Sir David Ochterlony, leaving him

the passage of the forest altogether free.
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The British army was already in motion to
the. Turai, when towards the beginning of
February, it was met by Gujraj Misur with a
formal intimation of the determination of the
Nepaulese to recommence the war. Sir David
Ochterlony had a force of near twenty thousand
effective men, including three European regi-
ments, Her Majesty’s 24th, 66th, and 87th.
He divided this force into four brigades, giving
Colonel Kelly of the 24th one; Lieutenant-
Colonel-Nicoll of the 66th another ; and Lieu-
tenant Colonel Miller of the 87th a third ; while
the fourth was commanded by Colonel Dick
who has before been mentioned.

Colonel Kelly with his brigade and regiment
were detached to the right by Bhugwanpoor
with orders to penetrate, if possible, by Hurree-
hurpoor ; Lieutenant-Colonel Nicoll was simi-
larly directed on Ramnughur to the left, while
Sir David Ochterlony with the other two
brigades, moved straight through the forest

by Simlabassa to the foot of the Bicheea-Koh
pass. ‘
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On the 10th of February, 1816, Sir David
established himself at a kind of caravanserai
at the outlet of the pass, and at a short distance
from the enemy’s first stockade. The serai
was quickly converted into a depoOt, and the
opposite works having been reconnoitered, and
found unassailable, information was sought with
earnestness as to the possibility of turning the
pass by some route unknown to the enemy.

After four days thus spent without interrup-
tion of any kind from the Nepaulese army, a
route was discovered by Captain Pickersgill, of
the Quarter-Master-General’s department, and
on the 14th, at nine at night, Colonel Miller’s
brigade was led by the General in person
through a deep and narrow ravine -called
Baleekola which brought the detachment to
a water course leading to a steep acclivity,
by which the first formidable barrier of hills
was to be scaled. The march was continued
during the whole night, and by seven in the
morning, the Choorea Chatee heights to the

west of the enemy’s positions were occupied
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without resistance. In the course of the 15th,
the brigade advanced about five miles to the
Chukree Mukree Nulla, and there bivouacked
for four days, waiting the arrival of its supplies
and tents, for no laden animal had been able to
accompany the troops.

For the first two days, the men suffered the
greatest privations, being for the most part
without food. Their hardships were participated
in a great measure by the General himself, who
had no baggage, and slept under cover of a
hut, hastily constructed for him by the men
of the 87th, of boughs cut from the green
trees. All this, however, was submitted to with
cheerfulness by both men and officers, in the
conviction that the object of the movement was
gained. On the morning following that of the
General’s march, Colonel Dick moved up close
to the enemy’s outer stockade, and in the course
of the following day found the triple fortifica-
tion evacuated by the Nepaulese, in consequence
of the success of the operation for turning the

position,



MUCKWAN PORE. 57

By the 20th of February, the roads were
prepared for a further advance, and the two
brigades met again at Etounda on the banks
of the Raptee, and here runs in a valley remark-
ably picturesque and beautiful : after a halt to
establish a second depot, the Major-General
marched again on the 27th, moving up the
valley to Muckwanpore, under which place he
encamped 1n the evening at a village called
Chougurha Mundee.

Muckwanpore 1s situate on a low ridge which
lay to the north of the encampment‘stretching
from west to east. The tower and fort were to
the east opposed to our right, and on the other
extremity was a village named Seekhur Kutree,
which was also occupied by the enemy, on the
General’s first appearance under the position.

For some unknown reason, the Nepaulese
withdrew their men from Seekhur Kutree next
morning, which being observed by the British
General, he immediately went with four companies
and forty Europeans to seize the point. Captain

Pickersgill accompanied them, and was pro-
D 3
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ceeding to occupy some other points along
the ridge, when he perceived a large force of
the enemy ascending the northern side of the
hill, so as to cut him off from Seekhur Kutree
which he had just left. He made good his
retreat down the southern declivity into camp,
while the Nepaulese advanced against the posts
which had been occupied. They had recovered
all but the wvillage itself, and the men there
had lost their commanding officer, Lieutenant
Tirrell, and were beginning to feel the want
of ammunition when the 25th N. I., which
Sir David Ochterlony had kept under arms
prepared for any exigency, came opportunely
to their relief accompanied by the flank compa-
nies of the 87th. The post was now secured,
and dispositions made to maintain it ; but the
Nepaulese unwilling to relinquish the advan-
tage poured a force of two thousand men from
the stockade near Muckwanpore, and showed
a determination to recover the village at all
hazards. -

Sir David Ochterlony seeing that the contest
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was becoming everyinstant more serious,detached
the 2nd battalion of the 12th N. I. with four
more companies of the 87th, under the com-
mand of Colonel Miller, to support the troops
at Seekhur Kutree; and turning out his line he
further ordered the artillery to play on the
different bodies of the enemy as they passed
passed along the ridge to the attack. The
Nepaulese seeing this, opened also their guns
at Muckwanporc, turning them at first against
the advancing parties, and subsequently on the
camp and line, where Sir David and his staff
were a conspicuous object. In the meantime,
the junction of the reinforcement enabled the
force at Seekhur Kutree to advance on the
enemy, and, the Europeans leading, a charge was
made which drove the Nepaulese beyond a
hollow, separating this part of the ridge from
Muckwanpore.

Detached parties of the enemy, however,
still cowered down in the jungle on the ridge,
and kept up a very destructive, though desul-

tory, fire on our posts; they brought also some
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guns to the opposite side of the hollow, and
thus continued to annoy us during the whole
day. Towards the afternoon, Sir David des-
patched to Colonel Miller a fresh battalion, the
2nd of the 8th N. I. to enable hin to finish
the action, if possible, before sunset. The
battalion upon its arrival was conducted by
Major Nation across the hollow, and advancing
with charged bayonets, captured the nearest of
the enemy’s guns, after which the Nepaulese
retired within their fort and stockades leaving
their dead and wounded at our mercy.

The Nepaulese were, mn this action, led by
Shumsheer Rana, the chief who commanded
the attack on Captain Sibley’s post at Pursa,
in the previous campaign. Their whole force
were engaged In the course of the day, and the
defeat was signal, their loss in killed and
wounded, having, by their own acknowledg-
ment, exceeded eight hundred men. Of the
British forty-five were killed, including eleven
men of the 87th, and one hundred and
seventy-five wounded, including nineteen Euro-
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peans, and Lieutenant and Adjutant P. Young
of the 2nd battalion, 12th N. I. Lieutenant
Tirrell was the only officer killed.

Colonel Nicoll, with his brigade, joined
the Major-General on the day after the action,
having successfully penetrated into the valley
of the Raptee, by a pass to the north of
Ramnughur, and having marched thence up the
valley without meeting any opposition, the
colonel left a strong detachment of two
battalions in position at Ekoor, under Major
Lumley, to maintain the communication by this
route and keep the valley free of the enemy.

In the meantime, Colonel Kelly, who had
orders to penetrate by Hurreehurpoor, succeeded
likewise, in finding a route by which he entered
the hills without oppositiéh, and penetrated
to that fortress. His march was, however,
much impeded by the nature of the ground,
and it was the 27th of February before he
reached Rutunpoor, a village on the left bank of
the Bhagmutee, a few miles to the south of the

fort. = He immediately made from thence a
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strong reconnoissance, and finding the post
to be unassaillable from the south, he resolved
on crossing the Bhagmutee, and advancing to
Toorjoor, a village to the west of Hurreehurpoor,
whence the approach seemed more easy.  This
movement was effected on the 29th of February.

The principal stockade of the enemy was
about one thousand yards to the west of
Hurreehurpoor, crowning the ridge in a semi-
circular form, and commanding the valley
of the Bhagmutee.

On the Colonel’s first arrival at Ioorjoor,
he observed an eminence of about eight
hundred yards distant from this stockade,
which the enemy had left unoccupied. He
accordingly, next morning before daybreak,
detached his light*companies, under Captain
(Brevet Major) Hughes of Her Majesty’s 24th,
supported by seven battalion companies under
Lieutenant-Colonel O’Halloran to seize the
point. This detachment ascended and quickly
established itself, driving off a picquet of the

enemy 1t found there; no sooner, however, was
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it well in position, than the whole force of
the Nepaulese came to the attack, and Colonel
O’Halloran had to sustain an unequal fight
from six in the morning until half-past eleven,
exposed on every side to the fire of the enemy.
At length, a strong reinforcement arrived
with two 6-pounders and two howitzers on
elephants. The enemy was then driven back
with considerable loss, and the attempt on the
position was not repeated. = The Nepaulese,
indeed, although their first attack was vigorous
and obstinate, did not evince, on this occasion,
quite so much bravery as was expected from
the reputation of their commander, who was no
other than Runjoor Sing, the defender of
Jytuck. He had with him also a choice band
of his associates in that defence, whom he had
distinguished by crescents in their turbans, and
by the pompous title “ Band of the Moon.”
Runjoor was himself one of the first to leave
the field, and his conduct in this action, and in
subsequently abandoning his post, tarnished his
bright name at the Court of Khatmandoo.
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The fort of Hurreehurpoor was evacuated in the
night after this affair, and Colonel Kelly, having
converted it into a depOt, was preparing for
a further advance, when he received the
General’s orders to retrace his steps.

The news of the first defeat at Muckwanpore
spread consternation at Khatmandoo, and with-
out waiting for intelligence of the event at
Hurreehurpoor, the Court immediately resolved
on an attempt to deprecate further vengeance
by unqualified submussion.

The red seal was affixed in haste to the treaty
of Segoulee, and an envoy sent to the camp of
Sir David Ochterlony to notify that it was
ready for delivery. The messenger brought a
letter trom Bukhtawur Sing, the Goorkha
commander, requesting permission to send the
instrument by Chunder Seekur Opadheea, who
was stated to have come to Muckwanpore for
the purpose.

The General returned for answer that the
Goorkhas must not expect the same terms now

as before the commencement of hostilities, but
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that he had no objection to receive the Opadheea
if he came with full powers. At the same
time the approaches were pushed on to within
five hundred yards of Muckwanpore, and a
battery was made ready against the place.

Chunder Seekur made his appearance in
camp on the 3rd of March, and earnestly
entreated the General to accept the ratified
treaty. Sir David had been vested with full
powers to use his own discretion in the accep-
tance of the former terms, or in advancing
further demands, according as circumstances
and the state of the season might prompt ;
but he was not to conclude a treaty until the
enemy were sufficiently humbled to make it safe
to rely on their sincerity.

This period seemed to Sir David to have now
arrived, and in order to put their humility to
the test, it was explained to Chunder Seekur
that the letter of the treaty would give to the
British all the territory in their occupation, and
would now, therefore, include the valley of the

Raptee, as well as Hetounda and Hurreehurpoor.
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At the same time the Opadheea was assured
that he must no longer expect any concession
beyond the letter, and he was called upon to
give a specific note in writing, declaratory of his
being influenced by no such hopes ; and further,
to engage that the Rajah should specifically
confirm the declaration in a letter to the
Governor-General. X

To all this the Goorkha negociator readily
assented, and he agreed, moreover, to present
the ratified treaty on his knees at the General’s
Durbar, in the presence of all the Vakeels in
camp.

This solemnity having passed, the General
concluded the treaty, and dispatched Lieutenant
Boileau of his staff to act as Resident at Khat-
mandoo until the Gowernor-General should
nominate a proper officer. He prepared, also,
for his own return, but did not finally leave the
hills until he received the orders for the surrender
of the forts of Nagree and Nargurkot to the
Rajah of Sikhim, and had ascertained that they

would be duly executed.
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The following are the treaties and the sub-

sequent engagements :

Treaty of Peace between the Honourable East India Com-
pany and Maharajah Beckrum Sah, Rajah of Nepaul,
settled between Lieutenant-Colonel Bradshaw, on the
part of the Honourable Company, in virtue of the full
powers vested in him by His Excellency the Right
Honourable Francis, Earl of Moira, Knight of the
most noble Order of the Garter, one of His Majesty’s
most Honourable Privy Council, appointed by the Court
of Directors of the said Honourable Company to direct
and control all the affairs in the East Indies, and by
Raj Gooroo Gujraj Misur and Chunder Seekur
Opadheea, on the part of Maharajah Koorman Jodh
Beckrum Sah Bahadur Shumsheer Jung, in virtue of
the powers to that effect vested in them by the said
Rajah of Nepaul.

“Wherecas war has arisen between the
Honourable East India Company, and the
Rajah of Nepaul, and whereas the parties are
mutually disposed to restore the relations of
peace and amity, which, previously to the
occurrence of the late differences, had long
subsisted between the two states, the following

terms of peace have been agreed upon.
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ARTICLE 1.

“There shall be perpetual peace and friend-
ship between the Honourable East India
Company and the Rajah of Nepaul.

ARTICLE II.

“The Rajah of Nepaul renounces all claim
to the lands which were the subject of discus-
sion between the two states betore the war;
and acknowledges the right of the Honourable
Company to the sovereignty of those lands.

ARTICLE 1I1.

“The Rajah of Nepaul hereby cedes to
the Honourable the East India Company in
perpetuity, all the undermentioned territories,

namely :—

First. — The whole of the low-lands
between the rivers Kali and Raptee.

Secondly.—The whole of the low-lands
(with the exception of Bhotwal Khas) lying
between the Raptee and the Gunduk.
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Thirdly.—The whole of the low-lands
between the Gunduk and Koosee, in which
the authority of the British Government has
been ntroduced, or is in actual course of
introduction.

Fourthly.—All the low lands between the
river Mechee and the Teesta.

Fifthly.—All the territories within the hills
eastward of the River Mechee, including the
fort and lands of Nagree, and the pass of
Nagarcote, leading from Morung into the hills,
together with the territory lying between that
pass and Nagree. — The aforesaid territory shall
be evacuated by the Goorkha troops within
forty days from this date.

ARTICLE 1V.

“ With a view to indemnify the Chiefs and
Barahdars of the state of Nepaul, whose
interests will suffer by the alienation of the
lands ceded by the foregoing article, the
British government agrees to settle pensions,

to the aggregate amount of two lakhs of
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rupees per annum, on such chiefs as may be
selected by the Rajah of Nepaul, and in the
proportions which the Rajah may fix. As
soon as the selection is made, Sunuds shall
be granted under the seal and signature of
the Governor-General for the pensions res-
pectively.
ARTICLE V.

“The Rajah of Nepaul renounces for
himself, his heirs and successors, all claim to,
or connexion with, the countries lying to the
west of the River Kalee, and engages never
to have any concern with these countries or
the inhabitants thereof.

ARTICLE VI.

“The Rajah of Nepaul engages never to
molest or disturb -the Rajah of Sikhim in
possession of his territories; but agrees, if
any ‘differences shall arise between the state
of Nepaul and the Rajah of Sikhim, or the
subjects of either, that such differences shall
be referred to the arbitration of the British
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government, by whose award the Rajah of

Nepaul engages to abide.

ARTICLE VII.

“The Rajah of Nepaul hereby engages
never to take or retain in his service any
British subject, nor the subject of any European
or American State, without the consent of the

British government.

ARTICLE VIII.

“In  order to secure and improve the
relations of amity and peace hereby established
between the two states, it is agreed that
accredited ministers from each shall reside at
the Court of the other.

ARTICLE IX.

““ This treaty, consisting of nine articles, shall
be ratified by the Rajah of Nepaul within
fifteen days from this date, and the ratification
shall be delivered to Lieutenant-Colonel Brad-
shaw, who engages to obtain and deliver to
the Rajah the ratification of the Governor-
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General within twenty-days, or sooner, if
practicable.
“Done at Segoulee on the 2nd day of
December, 1815.”
(Signed)
(L. S.) Paris Brapsuaw, Lieut.-Col., P.A.
(L. 8.) Guras Misur.

(L. 8.) CHUNDER SEEKUR OPADHEEA.

Received this treaty from Chunder Seekur
Opadheea, Agent on the part of the Rajah of
Nepaul, in the valley of Muckwanpore, at
half-past two o’clock, p.M., on the 4th March,
1816, and delivered to him the counterpart
treaty on behalf of the British Government.

(Signed) D. OcHTERLONY,

Agent Governor-General.
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Translation of an Engagement (Ikrarnama) in the Hindee
language, executed at Muckwanpore, Mandee, by Kajee
Bukhtawur Sing Thapa, and Chunder Seekur Opadheea,
Plenipotentiaries on the part of the Rajak of Nepaul,
and forwarded by General Sir David Ochterlony, along
with the above Treaty.

“At the time of delivering the treaty,
Major-General Sir David Ochterlony was
pleased to observe, that the Right Honourable
the Governor-General had not authorized him
to accept the treaty, and that he could not
encourage any hope of those indulgencies, of
which a prospect had been held out by
Lieutenant-Colonel Bradshaw, being granted in
addition to the treaty ; that his Lordship
indeed would not grant them, and that he
(the General) would not recommend him to
do so; that nothing beyond what was stated
in the treaty would be allowed. Accordingly
we, Sree Kajee Bukhtawur Sing Thapa and
Chunder Seekher Opadheea, have agreed to
what Sir David Ochterlony has required, in
testimony whereof we have executed this

VOL. II. E
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razeenama and delivered 1t to the Major-
General, dated 5th of Soodee Phagun, 1872,
Sumbut, corresponding with Tuesday, the 4th
of March, 1816.

(A true Translation.)
(Signed) J. MONKTON,

Personal Secretary to Government,

From the Rajah of Nepaul, received on the 18th March,
1816.

“On the 2lst Maug, 1872, Sumbut,
corresponding with the 2nd February, 1816,
I had the honour to receive your Lordship’s
letter, dated 13th January, stating that it was
your hope and expectation to have been able
to address me in the language of friendship
and congratulation, on the renewal of the former
relations of amity between the British govern-
ment and the state of Nepaul; but that,
unfortunately, that hope and that expectation
had been defeated and frustrated by the
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extraordinary conduct adopted by my govern-
ment, in refusing to ratify a solemn treaty
concluded by my authorized agents, stated by
myself and my ministers to have been vested
with full powers; intimating, however, at the
same time, that there was yet time to avoid
the danger to which 1 had exposed myself,
namely, that the instant ratification of the
treaty, and its transmission to Major-General
Sir David Ochterlony, would avert the impend-
ing evil, and would even induce your Lordship
to consider the propriety of relaxing from the
rigour of some parts of the engagement, but
that any delay would be fatal; adding also,
that your letter would be forwarded to me
by the Major-General, who was vested with
the command of the British force advancing
into my territory, and with the conduct of all
political affairs with my government.

“The relations of harmony and friendship
between the Honourable English Company
and this state, by the favour of the British
government, had subsisted, without any differ-

E 2
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ence of interest, for a period of fifty years; and
my ancestors were always grateful for its kind-
ness. Ialso had no other wish but that of con-
forming to ancient rule; and the British govern-
ment likewise conducted 1itself, as usual, in the
spirit of kindness. Were I, indeed, to attribute
the late transactions either to error on my side,
or to unkindness on the part of the British
government, I should be wrong. I ascribe
all this war and tumult solely to the malig-
nity of fortune. 1 nevertheless flattered myself
that your Lordship still had my welfare at
heart. |

“ Accordingly, when your Lordship addressed
your letter of friendly admonition to me, I
considered the counsel and advice which it
contained to be all for my own good. I
wished, therefore, agreeably to your Lordship’s
injunctions, and for my own interests, to trans-
mit the treaty by the hands of a confidential
officer, to Major-General Sir David Ochterlony ;
but unfortunately, my evil destiny led me to

delay 1its transmission, and, in the meantime,
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Sir David Ochterlony advanced with the British
army to Mandee, near Muckwanpore.

“As I had no other object in view than the
restoration of peace and friendship between the
two States, 1 successively dispatched Kajee
Sing Thapa, and Chunder Seekur Opadheea,
with the ratified treaty to Sir David Ochterlony,
who, knowing your Lordship’s favourable dis-
position towards me, and being himself also
kindly disposed, opened a communication with
Kajee Bukhtawur Sing, for the restoration of
peace and amity, and received the treaty from
the hands of that officer and Chunder Seekur
Opadheea ; delivering to them, at the same time
in exchange, for the purpose of being forwarded
to me, the counterpart of it, under your Lord-
ship’s seal and signature, which I have since
received.

“ Sir David Ochterlony caused Kajee Bukh-
tawur Sing and Chunder Scekur Opadheea
to execute a separate engagement in the Hindee
language (Ikarnama), the contents of which

will be made known to your Lordship by the
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Major-General’s communications. Ihereby con-
firm that engagement.

“It only remains for me to express my hope
that your Lordship will manifest your generosity
and magnanimity in such a manner as to
secure to this state the same rank and con-
sideration which it has hitherto enjoyed; a
compliance with this request is not incon-
sistent with the dictates of liberality and
benevolence.

“I trust that your Lordship, believing me to
be ever anxious for the pleasing accounts of
your health, will continue to gratify me by
kind letters.

(A true Translation.)

(Signed) J. MONKTON,

Personal Secretary to Government.

Lord Hastings was much pleased with the
result to which Sir David Ochterlony had thus

brought the campaign in so short a space of
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time ; more particularly so, because the late
period at which the operations had unavoidably
been undertaken, after the interruption to the
preparations which occurred in November and
December, had made him apprehensive of the
arrival of the unhealthy season before there
would be time effectually to humble the enemy.
Sir David himself, too, had discovered that the
capture of Muckwanpore would be the limit of
what could be effected this campaign, for he
found it would not be safe to keep the troops
in that valley after the middle of March ; this,
therefore, was not the least powerful of the
motives which influenced him in granting the
terms.

The articles of the treaty were all punctually
executed according to agreement. The Supreme
government thought, notwithstanding what had
passed, that it would be a politic act of concilia-
tion to give up such of the Turai as might not
be required to form a straight and even frontier
in lieu of the pensions stipulated in the treaty.
The Marquis of Hastings therefore after every
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article had been executed, gave notice to the
Rajah of his intention to send the Honourable
Edward Gardener to Khatmandoo as resident,
and to empower him to conclude a new arrange-
ment on that basis. This was subsequently
etfected, after a boundary had been surveyed
and marked with pillars of masonry, to prevent
the possibility of any future disputes between
the Nepaulese officers and our Zumindars.

The part of the Turar which skirted the
Oudh dominion was however retained, and with
Khyreegurh, a pergunna of Rohilkund lying on
the Oudh side of the Gogra, was made over to
the Nuwab Vizeer, in extinction of the second
loan of a crore of rupees obtained from him
during the war.

With the Sikhimputee Rajah, a treaty was
concluded by Major Latter, at Titaleea, on the
10th of February 1817 in which, amongst
other articles, there is one guaranteeing the
possessions of the Rajah to himself and his
family. A small strip of the Turai also, lying
between the Michhee and the Teesta (part of
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what was retained under the final arrangements
concluded with Nepaul) was ceded to this Rajah
for a line of communication.

The policy of this guarantee cannot be
doubted. Its effect has been to shut out the
Nepaulese from any ambitious views of aggran-
dizement to the east, and to circumscribe their
territory on three sides by the British power,
while on the fourth the stupendous range of
the Himalaya and the Chinese frontier, present
an effectual barrier. Thus while the British and
Chinese empires continue in their present
strength, the hope of extending their dominion
must be extinguished, and the military spirit
which was fostered by the series of victories
gained over the surrounding Rajahs, must die
away for want of employment.

It now only remains to state the nature of
the relations subsisting between the government
of Nepaul and the celestial empire and the
result of the application made to Pekin for
assistance during the campaign 1814—15.

In the first government of Lord Cornwallis,
E 3
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the Goorkhas have invaded Tibet and plundered
the palace of the Teeshoo Lama at Jigurchee or
Digurchee, a Chinese army was sent to punish
them. The Goorkhas retired before 1it, but
contrived to maintain themselves for some time
without much loss. This produced an overture
from the Chinese commander that the British
should co-operate in a simultaneous attack on
Nepaul. The proposition was not favourably
received, and the Chinese having changed their
General gained an important victory in the
Tingree Desert, and thus succeeded at last in
reducing the Nepaulese to submission. From
that time Nepaul has been considered by the
Chinese as a tributary country, and though
nothing 1s demanded beyond some nominal
offerings, still a legation proceeds every three
years from Khatmandoo to renew the assurances
of allegiance and good faith.

On the war breaking out with the British,
the Nepaulese represented to the Court of Pekin
that the difference had arisen in consequence

of our having demanded the passes through
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Heeméchul, which they as faithful allies, had
refused to give. The Chinese attached no
credit to the representation until they received,
through their own officers, at Lassa, a long
manifesto, in which the Supreme government,
knowing the relations which existed between
Khatmandoo and the Celestial Empire, thought
it expedient to forward an explanation, of the
real cause of war.

The Chinese now argued that there might
probably be some truth in what the Goorkhas
had represented of our ambitious views, as so
much pains were taken to disavow, or, as they
conceived, to disguise them. Accordingly, it
was determined, by the Court of Pekin, that a
force should immediately be directed to the
quarter menaced, and that one of the most
confidential ministers, and a military man,
should proceed to ascertain the state of things
in Nepaul.

So slow were the Chinese in executing their
determination, that the war was actually over

before their army was heard of at Khatmandoc.
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In September, 1816, however, the Gove;nor-
General received, through the Sikhim Rajah, a
letter, written in scarcely intelligible Persian,
from a person styling himself Shee Cheeoon
Chang, Vizeer, or Prime Minister, the chief
authority of Lassa, and another principal officer
of the frontier. The object of the letter was to
ask distinctly what were the views of the
British government in that direction, and to
state how they had been misrepresented. In
the course of the same month, the Goorkhas,
having heard that a Chinese force had arrived
at Digurchee, or Jigurchee, in August, applied
directly to the Resident to know whether in
case the Chinese demanded any further sub-
mission beyond what had already been acceded
to, they might depend on the co-operation of
the British in resisting them.

In this state of things the Supreme govern-
ment forbad any assurance of support to be given
to the Nepaulese, lest it should encourage them
in seeking cause of quarrel with the Chinese.

The Governor-General also communicated a



A CONFERENCE. 85

statement of all that had occurred in reply to
the letter which had been received through the
Sikhim Rajah. With this answer, the Chinese
authorities professed themselves satisfied, in so
far as the British were concerned; they de-
manded, however, that some confidential agents
from Nepaul should wait upon them, and the
following account of what passed at the
interview was obtained afterwards from a
Cashmeerian of the suite.

The first visit was one of pure ceremony, but
the Goorkha Vakeels, Dilbunjun Pande, and
Colonel Runbeer Sing Thapa, waited again
on Cheeoon Chang on the following day, when
his excellency commenced by asking “ What
had become of the Pandes and Bishnawuth’s 2”’
(leaders of the expedition into Tibet before
alluded to;) and he added, “ Who are these
Thapas that I never before heard of ? You
Goorkhas are a mischievous race, and have
caused the ruin of many Rajahs. Digurchee,
too, you plundered without cause or provo-

cation, and now you have thought to act the
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Digurchee scene with the English and so
murdered their police-officer, after settling the
question by negociation. You have been pun-
ished justly; you wrote us of war, and have
since written of peace yet still ask our aid.
What kind of peace is this ?”

The Nepaulese urged that if not inclined to
give assistance to recover what had been lost,
the Chinese authorities would at least lend their
good offices to procure the removal of the
Residency from Khatmandoo.

Cheeoon Chang replied, “ You wrote that
it was to establish a factory that the English
had come; why should I remove merchants ?”

Dilbunjun, one of the Vakeels on this said :
“ They were not merchants, but soldiers and
officers that they desired to be rid of.”

Cheeoon Chang replied: “ The English have
written that their object is to cement peace ;
and it appears you have agreed to receive the
Resident. You wrote us that the English
had demanded the passes into Koten China,
but we know this is false; if they desired
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to come to China it would not be by that
route.”

Turning to Colonel Runbeer, the other Vakeel,
Cheeoon Chang continued in a tone of irony :
“You Goorkhas think the hills have no soldiers
but yourselves : how many of you may there be ?
About two lakh, I suppose. And what is your
revenue ?”

Runbeer replied: “That his excellency was
right in the number of fighting men; and that
the revenue of the hill-country was very small
not exceeding five lakh of rupees.”

“ Truly,” said Cheeoon Chang, “you are
a mighty nation,” and with this he dismisssd
the Vakeels.

The Chinese were so fully satisfied with the
intelligence procured on this occasion, that they
immediately withdrew their troops from Di-
gurchee and Lassa. They betrayed, however,
a little jealousy at the establishment of a
Resident at Khatmandoo, and in reply to a
letter of the Governor-General, after stating
that they were perfectly satisfied, the Vizier
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introduced a hint that they should be still
better pleased were he withdrawn. It was
couched 1n the following terms :

“You mention that you have stationed a
Vakeel in Nepaul. This is a matter of no
consequence, but as the Rajah, from his youth
and inexperience, and from the novelty of the
thing has imbibed some suspicions, if you
would out of kindness towards us, and in
consideration of the ties of friendship, withdraw
your Vakeel from thence, it would be better,
and we should feel very much obliged to you.”

These minute details are perhaps too puerile
to be recorded at such length, but as so little
1s known of the conduct pursued by the Chinese
in their relations with other Asiatic powers, at
the same time that there is an interest about
everything that brings us politically into contact
with them, it is hoped that this full account
of their proceedings at Digurchee will not prove
unamusing or out of place.

To the above statement of occurrences after

the treaty, it only remains to add that the
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young Rajah of Nepaul died on the 20th
November 1816 of the small-pox, and was
succeeded by an infant son named Raj Indur
Bikrum Sah. This event contributed to fix
more firmly the authority of the party of
General Bhem Sing, by giving him another
lease of uncontrolled dominion pending a second

long minority.
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CHAPTER IIL
NEPAUL, SINCE THE WAR.

TWENTY-TWO years elapsed after the termi-
nation of the war, and no fresh ground for
quarrel was presented by the Nepaulese. The
treaties were respected, and the internal con-
dition of the kingdom was peaceable.  This
happy state of things was owing to the good
and wise management of Bhem Sing Thapa,
who had succeeded to the Regency on the
death of the King, and had retained power
during the minority of his son, ably directing
both the home and foreign policy of the Durbar.

History 1s rife with instances of the mis-
chievous results, of the ambitions and intrigues
of Queens who do not enjoy sovereign power.

Where ministers have not been their ready
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tools, they have been sacrificed as their victims.
Bhem Sing was destined to fill a place in the
latter category. The young Rajah having mar-
ried the daughter of a Goruckpore farmer, a
person of very inferior rank, she soon began
to develop those qualities which almost inva-
riably accompany the possession of power by
those females who have not been trained to its
exercise. As a wife, her conduct was exem-
plary : scandal had not touched her fair fame;
but her disposition was restless in the extreme.
She sighed for a share in the political authority
of her husband ; but she felt that, while Bhem
Sing continued to possess the royal ear, and to
influence the young King’s action, she had not
the remotest prospect of gratifying her desire.
The overthrow and destruction of the Minister
Regent were therefore, resolved upon.

But Bhem Sing, aware of the prejudices
against him, took care to have the household
entirely in his interest, and learning from his
spies, about the person of the King and Queen,
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that some mischief was brewing, he had re-
course to an old political trick, which he
believed would at once annihilate the prospects
of his rival. He represented to the young
Rajah, the great importance of his exercising
individual sway in Nepaul, and securing the
succession to his own heir. The young Queen
never having borne him a son, it was recom-
mended that his Majesty should seek a new
partner, who might be more prolific. In this
proposal, Bhem Sing received the cordial support
of the priesthood, who foresaw, in the cere-
monials consequent upon a royal wedding,
abundance of opportunity for the gratification
of their cupidity.

The King, whose passion for his wife had
somewhat subsided, listened with pleasure to
Bhem Sing’s proposition, and the preliminaries
being soon settled, another Goruckpore Zu-
mindar supplied a daughter, for a considera-
tion, and the King of the Goorkhas had a

second wife. The prospect of a royal settle-
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ment reconciled the latter to all the risks,
which might naturally be expected to attend
a rencontre with the discarded Queen.

Bhem Sing exulted over the success of his
first political move; but he was not long
destined to enjoy his triumph. The senior
Queen, the divorcée, furious at her superces-
sion consulted with the Pandee factions, the
bitter enemies of Bhem Sing and the Thapa
clan, and laid at the door of the minister a
number of serious charges, each of which, if
proved, would have sufficed to bring him to
the scaffold. Among other crimes imputed to
him, was that of beheading a number of
Pandees, in order to consolidate his power
after he had acquired the Regency. He was
likewise charged with accumulating wealth by
indirect means.

The King, too weak to resist the accumu-
lation of calumny, strongly and continually
pressed, and feeling perhaps that he no longer
needed the aid of his once valuable minister,

caused Bhem Sing to be imprisoned upon all
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the charges; and in a very short time perse-
cution reached its climax. The exact manner
of his destruction was never ascertained; but
Bhem Sing was found dead in his cell with his
throat frightfully mangled. His body, by the
order of the Rajah, was placed on the banks of
the Bhagmuttee, and denied all favoured rites;
a guard being placed over it by night and by
day, to watch that none approached it but
jackalls and vultures. His property confis-
cated, and all his relations treated as outcasts,
his favourite nephew, Matabar Sing, fled to the
British territory, where he found shelter.*

Two or three years after these occurrences,
the Nepaulese began to betray their old weak-
ness. Wisdom had fled from their councils
with the spirit of Bhem Sing, and the restless-
ness which had led them into collisions with
their neighbours revived.

About this time, the British government

* Matabar Sing had previously paid a visit to Cal-
cutta at the head of a complimentary mission. He
was much admired and féted.
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had embarked on the Affghanistan policy,
which led to the occupation of Cabul by a
British force; and the Nepaulese, ignorant of
our real strength, conceived that the time
had arrived for concerting, with the cabinets
of Lahore and Gwalior, an attack upon our
(supposed) undefended possessions.  Antici-
pating their assent to a proposal for driving
us out of India, the infatuated Rajah com-
menced operations by seizing upon four hundred
villages, which he was afterwards obliged, most
reluctantly to surrender. Coevally with the
mission to the Punjab and the Gwalior state,
an embassy was despatched to Pekin for assist-
ance, in men and money, against the English.
As, however, Nepaul was at this time tributary
to China, in consequence of her having some
fifty years since invaded the Chinese territory,
and committed great depredations, the Celestial
Emperor treated the embassy as a piece of great
impertinence, and made it a pretext for dis-
patching a large Tartar force to Nay-a-Rote, only
three marches from Estnordoo, the Goorkha
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capital, a measure which excited so much alarm,
that the Nepaulese were glad to sue for pardon
on any terms. The pardon was granted con-
ditionally, that an additional tribute of £10,000
was sent overland every five years to Pekin,
and the pre-eminence of China acknowledged.
China, doubtless, had her reasons for refusing
to co-operate in any wild measures of offence
against the British power in India, for she had
just began to feel the influence of our arms on
her coasts and fortified towns.

At the period of which we treat, the British
Minister at the Court of Nepaul was Mr.
W. H. Hodgson, of the Bengal Civil Service,
an amiable man, devoted to the pursuits of
science, and so accustomed to a serene political
atmosphere, as scarcely to perceive the full ex-
tent of the mischief meditated by the Cabinet
of Khatmandoo. Aroused, however, by the
violent seizure of the villages afore-mentioned,
he soon made adequate representations to the
Government of India; and the consequence

was, that a British force was sent to the
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frontier to check any threatened invasion of
the territory, and to act in such a way as
circumstances might dictate.

The command of this force was given to
Colonel Oglander, of the 26th Cameronians;
and for two years it was kept on the frontier
without firing a shot. It had, however, one
remarkable effect, namely, the dismissal of the
so-called war faction (the Pandee Ministry), and
the appointment of a new government, called
the -Chountra Ministry, at the head of whom
was one Futty Jung, who was said to be the
friend of peace and order, and well disposed
towards the British government. Indeed, the
other chiefs of Nepaul hesitated not to call the
Chountras the ¢ British Ministry ;’ and during
the time the British troops remained on the
frontier, they certainly showed every disposition
to be on friendly terms with our government.

But the many subsequent threatened inva-
sions of the Goorkhas, appearing to the British
authorities to have principally for their object,
the keeping in power those who were unable

VOL. II. F
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to maintain it without such a demonstration; it
was determined to withdraw the force, leaving
only one cavalry regiment at Segoulee, us a
corps of observation, and to insure, if necessary,
a safe retreat for the British Resident and his
party. ,

The Chountra Ministry soon discovering that
without some countenance from the British
government, they were in considerable danger,
became most urgent that the force might re-
turn; but to this our government would not
listen, and the downfall of the Chountras
became hourly more certain, and party-spirit
to rage higher than ever. The King and the
Durbar now evinced violent hostility towards
the British Resident, and several scenes occurred
which were remarkable for a rare mixture of

absurdity and danger.*

* Upon one occasion the King came down to the
Residency, accompanied by several chiefs and a large
body of troops, and demanded that a British merchant,
who had been trading for some years in Nepaul, and
wag within the walls of the Residency, should be given
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In the midst of his dilemma, the King now
determined upon getting Matabar Sing back to
his dominions, and accordingly missions were
sent to induce him to return, offering him the
situation of Prime Minister, and promising the
restoration of all the property of his late uncle,

Bhem Sing, which had been confiscated.

up. The merchant had become a party to a civil sut
in the Nepaul Court of Law ; but not having appeared
in answer to a summons, judgment was given against
him, and he became (the Nepaulese said) amenable to
their penal laws. The British Resident deeming him a
proper object of protection, refused to surrender his
person. The Rajah waxed insolent, threatened imme-
diate coercion, and even gave an order for the seizure
of the merchant. The writer, being then in command
of the escort, resisted the execution of this order, and
assuming an attitude of defiance, alarmed the Ne-
paulese and his chiefs, and compelled them to with-
draw themselves and their pretensions.

A few days after this—the Court being then in
mourning for the senior Queen, neither the King nor
chiefs, were allowed for a certain period, to ride either in
carriages or on horseback—the King and heir apparent

having had a quarrel, and a serious disturbance taking

F 2
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He at first refused, but at length listened to
the proposals, and unfortunately for himself,
returned.

He was received by the King and heir ap-
parent with the greatest distinction, and at once
offered the premiership. This he declined, until

place in the palace, determined upon coming down to the
Residency ; the heir apparent insisting that the Rajah
should accompany him. It had been raining heavily
in the morning, and about twelve o’clock we were
informed that the Rajah and heir apparent were out-
side the Residency gates. We went out to meet them,
and there found the Rajah and his son mounted on the
backs of two very decrepit old chiefs. The heir appa-
rent rcquested the Rajah at once to give us the order
to pack up, and take our departure for the plains.
The Rajah refused, whereupon the heir apparent abused
him most grossly, and urging his old chief close up to
the Rajah, assaulted him. A fight ensued, and after
scratching and pulling each other’s hair for some time,
the son got hold of his father, pulled him over, and
down they went, chiefs and all, into a very dirty
puddle. The two old nags extricating themselves,
hobbled away as fast as they could, as did the other
followers from fear. After rolling in the muddy water,
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his deadly enemies, the Pandee ministers, had
been destroyed.

The Rajah consented to do so on condi-
tion, that after the destruction of the Pandees,
Matabar Sing was in turn to destroy the
Chountra ministers, who had rendered them-
selves obnoxious to his Majesty, by thwarting
his views in regard to the invasion of the
British territory, and also in having coerced
the Rajah, by causing a mutiny among his
troops, and making him a prisoner in his
palace until he signed sundry documents,
binding himself to put an end to the nume-
rous cruelties and insults inflicted upon some
of the most influential chiefs in Nepaul.
These the Rajah signed, but only to break
them a very few hours after he had signed
them. Matabar Sing undertook this without
well considering his task. The late Pandee

ministers were immediately arrested and ar-

up got the now two dirty Kings, and after some little
delay, fresh nags were obtained, and the Rajah and his
son were taken home.
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raigned for high misdemeanours before a
council of chiefs, who, under the Rajah’s in-
structions, found them guilty of all matters
laid to their charge. They were sentenced to
be beheaded, which sentence was duly carried
into effect, and in a few hours the headless
trunks of nine Pandee chiefs lay on the banks
of the Bhagmuttee River. It will hardly be
believed, that one of the charges laid against
these unfortunate men, was that they had endea-
voured to persuade their innocent sovereign to
wage war against the British government.

The unhappy creatures did only what other
ministers had done—acquiescing in, and re-
commending that which they had found best
pleased their sovereign.

The King now called upon Matabar Sing to
perform his part in the Nepaul tragedy; he
promised compliance, but soon ascertained that
the wholesale destruction of the Pandee minis-
ters had united the chiefs in one common
cause, to the oblivion of all their former feuds.

Despairing of a successful fulfilment of his
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undertaking, Matabar Sing, who had always
been an opium eater, now took it In excess,
and gave himself up to all kinds of indul-
gences, rarely going to Durbar. The Rajah
became displeased, and there were those about
him, who, dreading Matabar Sing, lost no
opportunity to injure him. The unfortunate
Matabar was aroused at eleven o’clock at
night, and a peremptory order for his at-
tendance compelled him to appear at court.
The Rajah grossly abused him, in which he
was ably aided by the heir apparent, telling
him he was a traitor, and that ke had caused
him by his false representations, to destroy
the late Pandee ministers, who he now found
were innocent.

A signal was then given, and twenty soldiers
moved up with loaded muskets; the Rajah
ordered them to fire at and destroy the
traitor. 'The unfortunate Matabar fell fright-
fully wounded, and in this state he implored
mercy. But the Rajah ordered the soldiers
to reload and despatch him. This murder oc-
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curred in the upper rooms of the palace, being
about four stortes high. His body was ordered
to be tied up in a blanket, and thrown out of
the window to the court below, where a party
were waiting for it; they immediately carried
it to a funeral pile prepared some days before,
and in half an hour there was not a vestige
of Matabar Sing.

After the death of Matabar Sing, the
Chountra ministry were once more requested
to take office; they did so reluctantly, but
held it for a very short time. Sirdar Gungun
Sing, a man of low origin, but a faithful
servant of the second Queen, and the tutor
of her two sons, was shortly after this shot
dead near the Queen’s palace; by whose
orders 1s ddubtful, but the result was a
frightful massacre, which lasted for three
days. Upwards of seventy chiefs were killed,
and among these the minister, Futty Jung
Chountra. At the termination of this, the
Rajah fled to Nepaul; the ex-King seeking

safety at Benares, which his equally cruel and
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mad ancestor, Run Bahadur, had done nearly
fifty years before.

The successes of the British army in the
Punjaub, and the total overthrow of the
Gwalior government following upon the retri-
butory war in Affghanistan, the Nepaulese
have become completely satisfied of our in-
vincibility, and now e¢ndeavour to draw close
the bonds of amity subsisting between the
British and Khatmandoo Courts. In further-
ance of this object, a mission was two years
since dispatched to England, whose visit
was of a sufficiently interesting character to
render it worthy of a separate chapter. In
justice, however, to the present sovereign, 1t
should be stated that he is not pugnaciously
inclined. His name and title are Maharaja
Girivan Juddha Bickram Sah. When I had
the honour of making his acquaintance, he
was heir apparent to the throne.

He is now in his twenty-fifth year; his
features good, nose aquiline, with nothing of
the Goorkha cast of countenance. His mother

F 3
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and grandmother, being both natives of the
plains, doubtlessly vastly improved the nasal
organ of the Royal house of Nepaul. As
Prince Regent, the King gave loose to a very
violent temper, but many of these displays
doubtless arose from the character of his
father, who, being dead, may now have left

him without motive for his irritability.
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CHAPTER 1V.
THE NEPAULESE MISSION TO ENGLAND.

TowarDs the middle of the gay London
season of 1850, when an unexampled amount
of rank, fashion, and wealth, was on the full
tide of enjoyment; intelligence arrived from
India that an ambassador from Nepaul might
shortly be expected, covered with * barbaric
pearl and gold,” and bearing costly presents
for Her Majesty, Queen Victoria.

As London was, at the moment, strange to
say, without a lion of any kind, this news
created prodigious excitement. It was not,
however, for any length of time the herald
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of the mission. Thanks to the velocity of the
Peninsular and Oriental Company’s steamer, a
fortnight after the ambassador and suite ar-
rived at Southampton, fulfilling, by the bril-
liancy of their appearance, the most ardent
expectations of the curious. Few cared to
inquire—and, indeed, inquiry would have been
fruitless—into the real (political) objects of
their mission. It was sufficient that their
costume was splendidly martial, their bearing
gallant, their liberality profuse, and their dia-
monds and pearls undeniable.

The members of the mission were, His
Excellency General Jung Bahadoor Koorman
Ranagee, Prime Minister and Commander-in-
Chief of the kingdom of Nepaul; Colonel
Juggut Shumshere Koorman Ranagee, and
Colonel Dheer Shumshere Koorman Ranagee,
brothers of the general; Captain Rummihir
Sing Adhikaree Kajee Kurbeer Khutree, Cap-
tain Hemdul Sing Thappa, Lieutenant Kurbeer
Kutree, Lieutenant Lall Sing Khutree, and
Lieutenant Bhem Sing Rana. They had been
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mostly promoted since 1843, with the excep-
of Kurbeer Khutree, a well-tried political emis-
sary to the Emperor of China, who has
travelled the overland route from Nepaul to
Pekin oftener than any subject lving of
Nepaul. The chief of the mission was a
Thappa, and the nephew of the late General
Matabar Sing, who, for a short time also
was Commander-in-Chief of the Goorkha
forces, and whose fate 1s described in the
foregoing chapter.

General Jung Bahadoor, was about twenty-
eight years of age, active, shrewd, and
intelligent, well inclined to associate with,
and adopt many English customs, a good
shot, and first-rate sportsman, faithfully at-
tached to his sovereign, and there is little he
would not do to serve him.

He had witnessed some strange doings at
his court, and the downfall during the late
King’s reign of five successive ministries. 1
well remember his uncle, Matabar Sing, re-

marking one day, that he found he had been
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rapidly ascending a ladder, and now discovered
he had the very unpleasant duty to perform,
of going down the other side. He added, that
he should indeed consider himself highly fa-
voured, if allowed to take his time in the
descent, instead of illustrating the facilis des-
census, by taking one step from the top to
the bottom.

The other members of the mission held

different appointments under the several mi-
nistries, and the Kajee (then Sirdar), Delhi
Sing, was the head of the elephant-catching
department, and a very intelligent active per-
former he proved himself to be. He is also
a very faithful servant of the state, for I fancy
there i1s nothing he would not do at his sove-
reign’s bidding. Lieutenant Lall Sing was
adjutant of the “Hemdhull” Goorkha regi-
ment, a very sharp, intelligent man. He was
for some months on duty at the Bntish
Residency as Soubadar, when the Chountra
ministry were in power. He has likewise

witnessed the glorious wuncertainty attending
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the privilege of wearing one’s head in the
kingdom of Nepaul. The other members of
the mission were good specimens of the
Nepaul nobility.

One of them, Captain Kajee Kurbeer Khu-
tree, filled a place in a former mission in
India, which did not prove either lucrative to
himself, or satisfactory to his sovereign.

Accompanying the mission was an officer
of the Bengal army, Captain Cavanagh, In
what 1s called “political charge,” though the
object of such denominations has since been
satisfactorily ascertained. There was also an
interpreter, a Mr. D. Macleod, who had at one
time been a pleader in the Calcutta Courts,
and afterwards a deputy collector and magis-
trate in the uncovenanted service of the East
India Company.

The mission arriving in England at the time
of Her Majesty’s accouchement, could not
be immediately received at Court. It was soon,
however, understood that the ambassador was

properly accredited, and that nothing was
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requisite but the ordinary formalities to give
him his proper place. This was enough for
the British aristocracy. The plain “ General”
was immediately elevated to the titular dis-
tinction of Prince,” and the dignity conferred
by common consent on his stolid, Tartar-looking
brothers.  Invitations from every ¢ distin-
guished” host or hostess rained upon them,
and the mission In their turn commenced,
upon a large scale, playing patron to every
public place of amusement.

“His Excellency ” figured daily in the
“Morning Post” as the guest at some remark-
able soirée, or the visitor of some theatre or
al fresco féte.  The East India Company
invited the General and suite to be present
at a public dinner, refreshments being served
up to them in a separate room.

The Peninsular and Oriental Company, in one
of whose fine steamers they had come to England
at a charge of £5,000, gave them a ball. The
Artillery at Woolwich, the Guards in the park,

were reviewed before them, and the military
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authorities (risum teneatis) coveted their critical
applause ! ~ Managers of public places of
recreation held out their coming as baits to
the populace, and the baits fook, though the
Princes did not always go. The Press, aroused
at the excitement the ‘illustrious strangers”
produced, devoted articles to brief (and
erroneous) descriptions of Nepaul, circulated
a variety of absurd, apocryphal anecdotes, or
wrote lively satires of their appearance. The
following are some of the best descriptive
papers :

From the * Atlas.”

“When the season waxed, and grew middle-
aged, and when concerts, exhibitions, operas,
fétes, and balls were in their full swing and
most sparkling height, one of the gallant boats
of the Peninsular Steam Company crossed the
Bay of Biscay, and landed upon English ground
the Princes of Nepaul. They came, they were
seen, and forthwith they conquered. =~ We have
said that they arrived in a steam-boat. To

look at the lustre of their retinue, to count the
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diamonds which sparkled on their brown skins,
to mark the gemmed turbans, the jewelled
aigrets, the white bird of Paradise plumes—
who would not have been forgiven for believing
that the whole party might be an incarnation
from the “ Arabian Nights,” whisked thither in
an hour from Bagdad or a city of Cathay,
attended by the Fairy Pari Banou, with Solo-
mon’s seal in their carpet-bags, and journeying
with passports covered with hieroglyphics and
stars, the genuine autographs of the King of
the Genii? Coming in this guise, lavishing
diamonds and gold, enshrined in a halo of
oriental mystery, the Nepaul Embassy became
at once the talk of the town.

“ Wonderful rumours of his prowess as a
warrior, and an intrigant of the ambassador,
were buzzed about in the salons, the clubs, and
the gossipy alleys of the operas. ~Did he com-
monly bow-string his footmen and drown his
wives in a bag? One likes to see, quietly
listening to “Norma,” or driving through

Piccadilly, a swarthy gentleman, whose every-day
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practice it is, in his own country, when freed
from the conventional restraints of what we
call society, to cut off the blundering head of
Selim with a scimitar, or with oriental gravity
and decorum to introduce the frail and flirting
Fatima to the recesses of a clean rice sack,
and thence to the muddy bottom of an
eastern stream, very slow and very deep.

“ Impressed with such notions, vast admirers
of jewellery, great favourers of Interesting
foreigners, and inordinate worshippers of
Princes, all the world looked with applauding
eyes upon him of Nepaul. He was féted,

courted — perhaps a little bit toadied—and
maintained his rank as the very greatest
curiosity, until—alas! for human stabiity—
a ship of the same line which introduced the
brown and illustrious stranger to our shores,
made its appearance with a still rarer, at all
events a still newer, object of curiosity ; and
according one bright, summer morning, in utter

defiance of all natural history, the Hippopo-



116 MEMORIALS OF NEPAUL.

tamus of the banks of the Nile became the
Lion of the banks of the Thames!”

The ¢ Indian News ” wrote :

“Our Nepaulese guests have abundantly
partaken of the national hospitality.  They
have been lionized in public and private.
Armies have been paraded before them, and
royalty itself has been their cicerone. No
evening party having the slightest pretensions
to the aristocracy of either rank, wealth, or
talent, is held to be complete without their
presence. And this is as it should be. They
visited our shores dona ferentes; they have
spent their money among us with a liberality
amounting to profusion, and they have received
our hospitalities with a full appreciation of the
spirit in which they have been offered. All
this, we repeat, is as 1t should be; but the
moral constitution of an Englishman is peculiar,
and, it would seem, as much subject to the
influences of climate as his natural one. Let

him but round the Cape, or traverse the
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Desert, and the atmosphere of India produces
a singular revolution in his opinions on ques-
tions of colour, individuals of the caste and
complexion of those féted Nepaulese being
regarded, not merely with indifference but with
contempt.

“True 1t 1is, the English officer and civilian
undergoes a process of colouring as gradual,
but as complete, as that of the bowl of a
meerschaum ; brown supervenes upon yellow,
and bronze upon brown, until, as in some
specimens we have seen, to ‘such complexion
does he come at last, that an ayah might as
reasonably hope to be accounted one of the
fair sex, as he to establish his European origin
on the prima facie evidence of his countenance.
And yet he cannot endure a taint of the tawny
in a native.

“We have adverted to this subject for the
purpose of exhibiting the inconsistency and folly
of the prejudice prevailing in India, on the
part of the white, against the coloured, popu-
lation. We have, on former occasions, en-
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deavoured to show the 1ll effects of this feeling,
as evinced by the European, towards the native,
officers ; who being thus shut out from the
sympathies of their superiors, are thrown back
upon those of the private soldier, to the great
detriment of the discipline and efliciency of the
army. We hope, indeed we believe, that more
enlightened opinions are gaining ground in
India, and that, as the intellectual powers of
the natives become developed, a better order
of things will obtain.”

~ Describing the visit of the Embassy to
Woolwich, the correspondent of one of the
provincial papers said :

“They appeared to be particularly struck
by the machinery of the carriage department.
The drawing out of masses of iron into bars,
by the passing of them several times between
cylinders, also appeared to rivet their attention.
An explosion during this operation, arising from
we know not what cause, startled a few of
the ladies who were present, and scattered

the particles of red-hot iron in all directions.
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The laboratory, especially, was inspected by the
Ambassador with great minuteness ; the making
and filling of percussion caps, and the manu-
facture of bullets, not by casting, but pressure—
and all by machinery—were also exhibited and
explained to them. The elder brother appeared
to look at every thing with a professional eye,
and as 1if nothing was lost upon him. An
occasional ejaculation sufficiently manifested the
wonder which many of the objects presented
to him excited in his mind, but his manner
throughout —and the remark applies in a
greater or less degree to his brothers and their
suite—was calm, subdued, and dignified.”
From these general accounts of the move-
ments of the members of the mission, the
Press went into particulars, and the General
Jung Bahadoor himself, was specially the
object of homage and of falsehood.  His
portrait appeared in the ¢ Illustrated News,”
accompanied by an account of his having
ridden a horse up the lofty granary at Patna—
a feat often achieved by English horsemen,
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Quadrilles and polkas were published, with
portraits of the “ Prince” as frontispieces, and
the whole was capped by a long letter in the
“Times,” (from Calcutta).

On the recovery of Her Majesty, a court
and drawing-room were held at St James’,
at which General Jung Bahadoor delivered his
credentials, and was kindly received. = An
invitation to the palace followed.

The following anecdotes regarding the Ne-
paulese Minister appeared lately in a popular
periodical, and may be accepted as genuine.

Jung Bahadoor was (is?) one of the most
rcmarkable men of the day. His vault into
the saddle of Commander-in-chief and Prime
Minister of Nepaul, though not unmarked by
bloodshed, was strong evidence of his daring
and resolute spirit. He had risen to a suffi-
ciently distinguished position in the Nepaulese
army to become an object of apprehension to
the feeble and treacHerous Court. His death
by violence was resolved upon, and orders given

to the executioner. A slave-girl who had, at
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one time, enjoyed the love of the hardy moun-
taineer heard of their intentions.  Her affection
and solicitude revived. She flew to him imme-
diately, communicated all she knew, and bade
him be on his guard. Swearing her to the
truth of her allegations and enjoining her si-
lence, Jung Bahadoor at once summoned his
brothers (the men who accompanied him to
England), revealed to them the state of affairs,
and being assured of their sympathy and their
determination to fall in his defence, he com-
manded them to load their rifles, gird on their
swords, and accompany him to the palace.
They obeyed. In a few minutes they were on
their way to the royal residence. The king was
in durbar (council), and the prime minister, the
instigator of Jung Bahadoor’s destruction, sat
upon his right hand.  Arrived at the palace
stairs, Jung Bahadoor and his brothers were
challenged by the sentinel. One flourish of the
sabre, and the sentinel’s head rolled on the floor.
Higher up the steps they were again challenged
— the second party shared the fate of the first.
VOL. II. G
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Entering the hall of audience, the enraged youth
advanced to the foot of the throne, and holding
out the order for execution, of which he had
obtained possession, asked the minister if that
was not his handwriting and the King’s sign
manual ?  Before a reply could be given, Jung
Bahadoor levelled his rifle at the minister and
shot him dead. He then seized the body and
flung it out of the window. A tumult arose.
“What ! ” exclaimed Jung Bahadoor; “is it
worth while making all this noise for a dead
body?” Seeing the panic-stricken state of the
King, Jung Bahadoor presented a warrant for
his own appointment to the office of prime
minister and commander-in-chief, which the
King was but too ready to sign.

This coup d’¢tat, alarming, as it did, the rest
of the Court, insured for the new minister
a tranquil existence and possession of office ;
but at length the adherents of the previous
minister and his own partisans began to .mur-
mur: the former taking courage from the
discontent of the latter, who had not reaped the
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full extent of the reward they anticipated.
This rendered the minister’s life irksome to
him, and he cast about for some excuse to leave
the kingdom temporarilv. A visit to England
as ambassador was suggested to him. He
caught at the idea with avidity. The King
gladly adopted it, for the presence of a minister
who had thrust himself into service, was any-
thing but agreeable.

The arrangements of Jung Bahadoor for his
reception at the court of Queen Victoria, were
characteristic of his good taste and originality.
“ Of what avail is 1t,” said he, “to carry wealth
to the wealthiest of potentates ? Better far to
lay at her feet what money cannot purchase.”
In this spirit he called around him the principal
mountain chiefs, and apprising them of his con-
templated departure, asked of each, onc of the
weapons of war most valued by their family,
and which had descended as an heir-loom from
the most renowned and war-like of their an-
cestors.  His request was acceded to with
promptitude.  And these were the presents

G 2
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which accompanied his credentials. He had
rightly judged the character of the Queen of
England. The simplicity and peculiarity of
the gifts imparted to all a rare value.

At the Court of Great Britain, Jung Bahadoor
was as much admired for the naivete of his
replies as for the brilliancy of his costume.
“ What strikes your Highness as most ex-
traordinary in this country ?”’ asked one of
the ministers of the Nepaulese Vakeel. It
is,” replied he, ‘the sight of the first lady of
the land standing for several hours to receive
the homage of the humblest of her subjects.”

This spectacle especially excited his wonder
and admiration, but scarcely inferior to these
emotions was the astonishment produced by
the police, which he called ¢ Polis!” How
a body of armed men, quiet and unobtrusive
in their manner, possessing no external marks
of personal fierceness or official authority,
could preserve the peace in such an immense
metropolis, he could not understand. For

the first few days the crowded streets, and the
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impromptu cortéges of the embassy, disturbed
the nerves of the Envoy’s party, but they were
soon reassured by the steady guardianship of
the police.

As another proof of the graceful nature of
his replies, may be instanced his remark
on being introduced to Lord Gough. “What
is meant by Jung Bahadoor ?” asked the hero
of Chillianwallah and Guzerat.

“The mighty in war, my lord,” was the
reply of the interpreter.

“And a very good name, too, for a brave
man like his Highness !” observed Lord Gough.

“Tell the General,” said the Nepaulese
chieftain, * that my name 1s the result of the
accident of birth—it is my nuseeb.  His
lordship 1s the true Jung Bahadoor, for he has
earned the title.”

An instance of the decision of the envoy’s
character occurs to us. He was very fond of
horses, and especially of those of high action.
One morning he paid a visit to the stables of

a well known dealer in Piccadilly. The ap-
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pearance of a horse struck him. He asked
the price, and was told 300 guineas. “ Let
me see iIf he can leap,” said Jung Bahadoor.
The dealer answered that he was a Park horse,
and had not been trained to leaping.  Without
further ceremony, the Nepaulese took off his
watch, neck-chain and girdle, his turban and
his sword, and commanded one of his aides-de-
camp (a brother) to hold a drawn sword several
feet from the ground, as he proposed to take
the horse over it. The dealer stood aghast.
The horse would assuredly break his knees;
he had never tried a leap ; failure was inevitable.
Jung Bahadoor insisted, putting a stop to all
remonstrances by the princely assurance that
he would pay for the horse if he was injured.
He then mounted the animal, rode him once up
the “ride,” and then took the leap with the
greatest ease. The dealer now raised his price.
He asked 400 guineas—he had no idea the
horse had it in him—he could not think of
parting with such a treasure for the original sum!

“Tell him,” said the gallant Nepaulese to his



A BARGAIN. 127

interpreter, while he resumed his watch, turban,
&c., “1 am now going out of his yard. If
he will take 200 guineas I will pay him at once.
If he does not decide before I visit yonder posts
I will reduce the offer to 150 guineas. If he
1s undetermined when I get to the gate I shall
only offer 125; and if he allows me to get
into my carriage without closing the bargain
I shall only give him 100 guineas.” The
dealer protested— entreated—argued—following
the envoy the while. Jung Bahadoor reached
his carriage, sprang in—the dealer consented
to take the one hundred guineas! Jung Ba-
hadoor gave him one hundred and twenty
five.

At a bargain the envoy displayed all the
huckstering qualities of his countrymen, but
he was by no means destitute of generosity.
Labouring under the consequences of a dissipation
to which mountaineers are unaccustomed, Jung
Bahadoor found it necessary to consult Sir Ben-
jamin Brodie. Under the hands of that skilful

practitioner, the envoy soon recovered, and upon
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the occasion of Sir Benjamin Brodic’s last
visit he placed upon the table a bag containing
500 sovereigns, telling him that was his fee.
Sir Benjamin, with characteristic delicacy,
refused it. The envoy pressed it, and even
became warm under Sir Benjamin’s persevering
repugnance to accept a sum so much in excess
of professional usage. At length Sir Benjamin
yielded so far as to take one hundred guineas,
rather than offend the envoy; but how did he
accommodate even this sum to his nice con-
science ? He immediately purchased a beau-
tiful set of surgical instruments, which could
not have cost less than seventy-five guineas,
and sent it with his compliments to Jung
Bahadoor, thus retaining but twenty-five
guineas for his services. Such anecdotes are
creditable to both parties.

In all athletic and other manly sports Jung
Bahadoor was a proficient. At Angelo’s
fencing rooms he eclipsed some of the finest
swordsmen, and one of his suite, an excellent

wrestler, trying a fall with a crack hand, threw
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him successively with great violence. Jung
Bahadoor 1mmediately gave the discomfited
party a handful of gold.

As a marksman he was unrivalled. He
had a practice, both in London and in Paris,
of going about in plain clothes with his secre-
tary. Thus attired, he looked like a Spaniard
or South American. On one occasion, dis-
guised in this way, he went into a shooting
gallery in Paris, and deeming himself a match
for the men who were there firing at a mark,
he placed a rouleau of Napoleons upon the top
of the target, and challenged any one to compete
with him. The challenge was accepted; but
the Frenchmen soon found that he was more
than a match for the best of them. At each
shot a Napoleon or more was dislodged, while
the rouleau of Jung Bahadoor’s antagonist
remained untouched.

One more incident, and enough will have
been said to demonstrate that the ¢ Lion of
1850” was no common man. When accounts
were being settled between the envoy and the

G 3
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French tradespeople, one of the suite demurred
to a charge for five francs, which he protested
was unjust. Jung Bahadoor, who had a horror
of being “done,” upheld his follower in his
resistance to the demand.  The suitor resorted
to the law, and when Jung Bahadoor was on
the pont of departing, the progress of his
carriage and horses was impeded by the instru-
ments of the French police. He sprang
from his carriage, drew his sword, threatened
to cut down whomsoever opposed his progress.
Then rushing to the embassy, he called upon
Lord Normanby to interfere, and proceeded
en route. Arrived at Marseilles he learnt to
his great vexation that, after all, his follower
had paid the money. Indignant that he should
have been exposed to annoyance for so small
a matter, he called the officer before him.
“Now,” said he, “you have subjected me to
a painful humiliation. I sentence you to pay
a fine of 200 rupees (£20.)” “ Alas, your
excellency, I have not one rupee.” Come

here, give me your sword.”  The follower
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obeyed. Tearing off the sword-knot of bullion,
““There,” said the envoy, ‘that, when melted
down will yield the money. Go!”

Such was the mountain chief, who, during
his stay in England, was followed for his
glittering  costume and supposed wealth.
Sufficient of his history was known to obtain
for him the reputation of great hardihood,
but few persons were aware that in the breast
of this untutored Nepaulese, there beat a heart
attuned to the finest impulses, and a taste
which needed no cultivation to help its possessor
to appreciate the talents most palatable to
our artificial community. 'When asked by her
Majesty why he liked the singing of Grisi,
whose language he did not comprehend, he
promptly replied: ¢ We hear the bulbul, and we
enjoy its notes. Do we understand what
its song sayeth ?”

The determined manner in which Jung Baha-
door put down the conspiracy to destroy him on
his return to Nepaul, and the signal vengeance
which he took upon the officer who accompanied
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him to England, and scandalized him in India,
we shall have occasion hereafter to mention.
The embassy now prepared to return to
India. Previous, however, to their embarkation,
a visit to the provinces, to Scotland and France
was resolved upon, and performed. The only
circumstance which seemed to embarrass the
officers of the mission, was the cooking their
food and the performance of their necessary
ablutions. Every pains were taken in England
to meet their prejudices in these respects, but
the occasional failure to suit the emergency
was productive of amazing occurrences. The
following anecdote is from a Lancaster paper :
“The Nepaulese Ambassador and suite
passed through Lancaster on Wednesday last,
by the morning down mail, en route for
Glasgow. Whilst the train was stopping at
the Castle station, an incident occurred which
exhibited a characteristic of the religion of
these Oriental wvisitors. His highness being
thirsty the interpreter inquired for some water,

and, in the emergency, one of the porters



A DILEMMA. 133

hastily procured it in one of the men’s coffee
cans. 'This not being accepted, and the porter
supposing the vessel was too plebelan for his
highness to use, a clean tumbler glass, contain-
ing the pure element, was tendered, but also
solemnly rejected. In this dilemma his Highness
or Magnificence, as the splendour of his costume
would warrant his being styled, caught sight of
the stand-pipe and hose by which the engines
are supplied with water, and supposing it to
be a spring, endeavoured to find where he could
dip in his own drinking-cup, and procure water
unpolluted by contact with any vessel in Christian
use. The whole party curiously examined the
water-pipe, but of course could make nothing
of 1it, and returned to the train with his
Highness’s want unsatisfied.”

After the minister had left England, the
annexed letter appeared in the “Times.”

Calcutta, April 7.

“'The visit of the Nepaul minister will be, I
imagine, the most remarkable one you have re-
ceived this century.



134 MEMORIALS OF NEPAUL.

“ Rammohun Roy was a clever, quiet, in-
tellectual Bengalee Hindoo gentleman, who, I
believe, turned Unitarian, and died in England.
Dwarkanath Tagore, whom the good folks at
home appeared to think a very great man,
was a humbug; in fact, he was rich only, or
thought to be so. The Pasha of Egypt, was
comparatively next door to you, and a Mahom-
medan ; but our “ Minister and Commander-
in-Chief of the Nepaulese,” fresh from his
mountains, 1s a genuine and most strict Hindoo.
A nobleman of the Rajpoot caste, and the
Goorkha tribe, the most valhant, and now
nearly sole independent of the native states.

““ As he will probably remain in England two
or three months, you may perhaps see, and will
I am sure be interested by him. He is thirty-
two years of age only, rather slight in figure,
but neatly formed; strong, firm, and agile as
a hart; forming a strong contrast with his
two stout, or rather fat, brothers who accom-
pany him. His features are of the Tartar caste.
He appears to have great physical courage.
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“On his way down to Calcutta in the
steamer, passing through the jungly shores of
the Soonderbunds, some object of game ex-
citing his attention, regardless of tigers and
alligators, and to the great alarm of his followers,
he jumped overboard into the water or mud,
but returned equally safe and unsuccessful.

“I have said nothing of his history in my
letters to our sisters; it might horrify their
feminine, and startle your European feelings,
but wil add to the romantic interest of your
visitor. He 1s, or rather was, nephew to the
late Prime Minister of Nepaul, Matabar Sing,
who, with his regiment of Goorkhas, wvisited
Calcutta some few years back. About four
years ago, this young man (Jung Bahadoor)
discovered that his uncle, the minister, had
conspired against the lives of himself and
brothers, for what reason I know not; where-
upon, slinging his double-barrelled rifle over
his shoulder, he proceeded to the Durbar
council and (council-room), confronted the
minister, and charged him with the intent.
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The latter hesitated, and they speedily came
to hot words, when our hero, unslinging his
gun, shot the sald minister dead upon the
spot.

“ A bloody fray then ensued between the
Durbaree people and Sree Jung and his brothers
(he has some six or seven), who were with him.
The former were nearly all cut to pieces. Sree
Jung, with the loss of one brother killed in
the fray, was victorious; and immediately, all
bloody as he was, his gun upon his shoulder,
hastened to the King, told his own story,
declared i1t was in self-preservation, and de-
manded the royal sentence at once.

“The monarch, however, thinking it better
to conciliate such a spirit, told him in reply,
that he had no doubt the slain minister had
been in the wrong and he in the right, on
which, “staying no further question,” he
hurried back to the Durbar, and immediately
proclaimed himself Prime Minister.

“Now I certainly did not receive this story
from his own lips, but from those of a gentle-
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man who came down with him in the steamer.
I believe it, however, to be perfectly correct.
Of course, in giving you this anecdote, I should

be sorry if the spirit of

ce¢ — our fiercer Orientalism

Should somewhat shock your western sentimentalism,’

“I should be sorry, that is, to prejudice his
reception amongst any who, ignorant of the
elements of Asiatic character, of Asiatic edu-
cation, mind, morals, doctrines and opinions,
might regard him as a sort of George Barnwell
or ordinary cut-throat. On the contrary, his
manners, his abilities, his tact, and energy have
alike confirmed him in the good-will of the
Nepaulese army and people; and I look upon
his visit to England as one of the many
gradual but sure measures and steps by which
the Almighty is paving Asia with civilization.

“ His power as minister is unbounded (over
life and death), and is indeed greater than that
of his sovereign. I suspect that, like Macbcth,
“ he shall be king hereafter.” The present onc
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(whom, in point of fact, Sree Jung placed on
the throne) is nothing, or little more than a
boy, and a puppet. Intelligent, energetic, high
spirited, ambitious, inquisitive, and politic;
knowing that the Company’s charter is nearly
out, and observing that our conquests arc
extending right and left, he probably thinks
it well to conciliate the Queen of England on
her throne.

“ His visit, therefore (of which no one
knows the precise object), may probably arise
from mixed feelings and motives of policy,
ambition, curiosity, and a love of show and
adventure. He gave me to understand that
his leaving Nepaul on this mission was much
opposed, and that he had to steal away, as it
were, to effect it.

“It i1s to be hoped that you English will
not kill him with balls, routs, late hours, coughs
and colds. Cold, however, is his element.
Were he not to return safe, his brothers and

attendants would not dare, I am told, to return
to Nepaul.
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“ Previous to the return of the troops which
had escorted him here, I witnessed his leave-
taking.  First, the officers, after each receiving
either pay or a present of money (which he and
his brothers touched) stood in front, and one
by one addressed him. He replied, and after
some reluctance, as it appeared to me, and
many repeated salams, withdrew. They had
of course spoken in Goorkha, but on their
leaving he turned and explained to me in
Hindostanee the purport of their address.

“¢They say it i1s putting shame upon them
that they have to return to Nepaul without me,
that they brought me in safety here, and it
1s equally their duty and their desire to take me
back in safety,’ so I told them, ‘It is well—on
my return from England you can do so; come
down again to Calcutta, and take me back to
Nepaul. They can’t understand,’” said he,
(speaking generally), ¢ why I should take all
this trouble and expense; leaving my country
and my friends. See how great an outlay I am

submitting to, so many lacs (a lac is a hundred
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thousand rupees, or ten thousand pounds)
expended here, and for the ship; so many
more will go in England, and so many more
on my return; and my pay of course goes
to another (my brother) during my absence.’

“In reference to his companions, he added
that he had reduced the rank or pay of all
during his absence ; that those who were
colonels (his two brothers) he had made cap-
tains, and those who were captains, lieutenants,
and so forth. I replied, that I hoped his visit
to England would prove not only for his own
pleasure, but for the good of his country.

“ The sound of a bugle now announced the
troops to be ready to salute him ; so he stepped
into the verandah overlooking the garden, on
the broad path of which a long line of bright
and terrible bayonets (shaped like the Kookree,
or Nepaulese dagger knife—a very handsome
carved weapon) glittered in the sun. After he
had addressed a few words to the men, the line
saluted twice, and were then (half of them with

their faces towards him) ordered to march.
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One or two companies, however, at the end
nearest to him, appeared unwilling to move,
and while they stood, men from the ranks
addressed him. He stopped them, however,
by reminding them that it was not customary
to address their officers with arms in their
hands, and again ordered them to move, which
they did with evident regret; those about me
declaring that some were ‘ rota-hy,’” <. e. crying.
He is certainly very much liked by them all.

‘““ As they marched through the garden, the
band played (and played well too) English
martial tunes; but on getting outside of the
gate they struck off into one of their own wild
and peculiar mountain airs. He has been pick-
ing up a little English, and to my great gratifi-
cation, told me what he had learned. I cor-
rected the sentences for him, and he repeated
the alterations till he was perfect ; after which
he asked me to teach him others, carefully
inquiring and noting the difference in address-

ing equals, inferiors and superiors. Two of his
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attendant officers speak English—one of them
very well indeed.”

In Paris the enthusiasm of the populace, as
represented by the press, was not inferior to
that of our own John Bull. Everything the
General and his followers did was faithfully
noted in the journals of the day. Annexed are
a few extracts from the articles which appeared :

““ The ambassador is accompanied by his two
brothers, and has a suite of twenty persons.
He 1is only twenty-six years of age, but he is
already a distinguished general, and is con-
sidered one of the most intelligent men of his
country. He appreciates the diplomatic atten-
tions that he has received here, but expresses
an earnest desire to see the President of the
Republic before his departure, which is at pre-
sent fixed for the 29th instant. In his own
language he said, ‘When will the sovereign
President return? and his interpreter replied
that it would be possible for him to be presented
to the President before his departure. He then
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said, ¢ It i1s well, for my nation and myself have
a great veneration for the name of the Emperor,
whose courage and exploits we admire.’

“ General Changarnier and his suite has paid
him a visit, as also the Minister for Foreign
Affairs, and he was much flattered at this mark
of attention by the government. The Turkish
Ambassador had previously called upon him.
It 1s difficult, however, to make the Ambassador
comprehend that France 1s a republic, and
cannot offer him the same splendid fétes as
Queen Victoria when he was in London. The
Ambassador and his suite have expressed a
wish to conform as much as possible in Europe
to the religious usages of India, which require
that the Princes should themselves immolate the
animals destined for their food, but they have
experienced great obstacles. It has been erro-
neously stated in the journals that the animals
are slaughtered daily in the yard of the Hotel
Sinet. It is true that the Prefect of Police has
given pérmission for this to be done but

neither Paris nor the banlieue have furnished
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the kind of animals fit for immolation according
to the prescriptions of the Indian religion. The
Ambassador asked for a fat male deer, of from
one to three years old, but could not obtain it.
Several females were brought but these would
not do. As yet neither he nor his suite have
killed any animal.

“Their mode of living is very singular.
There must be as many rooms as there are
persons, for each must eat alone. As yet their
only animal food in Paris has been a little game.
Their principal food is fish and vegetables. On
the return of the President of the Republic, he
will offer a grand féte to the Ambassador, if he
can postpone his departure.”

* * * * *

“The Nepaulese Ambassador and his suite
of twelve persons, accompanied by Captain
Fanshaw, their interpreter, visited the galleries
and museum of the Louvre on Monday. What
appeared to please them most was the gallery
containing Chinese designs and utensils. They

asked many questions. Their gorgeous cos-
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tumes, pearls and diamonds, produced a pic-
turesque effect in the galleries. M. de Nieuwer-
kerke, the director of the Louvre; M. de
Vielcastel, the secretary ; and other officers,
accompanied them. The artists who were at
work 1n the galleries suspended their labours to
take a glance at the visitors. On leaving, the
ambassador and his suite heartily thanked the
officials and artists for their flattering reception.
In the Hotel Sinet, they lodge in apartments
entirely separated from the rest of the hotel.
They communicate with no one, and keep their
curtains constantly closed.”
* * * * *

“ The Nepaulese Embassy have ¢ assisted ’ at
a party given by Lord Normanby; and they
had a somewhat narrow escape from the loss of
some of their gorgeous and all-tantalizing
jewellery. Of this incident the Paris corres-
pondent of a daily cotemporary furnishes the
following curious account, in connection with
the discovery of a desperate and long organised
band of robbers :—* The captain of the troop,’

VOL. II. H
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says the writer, “ who passed in socicty under
the title of the Baron of Ardennes, 1s, 1t appears,
a young man of good family, and has received
an exccllent education. IHe has been in the
army, and has performed on the stage. He
had for his mistress a beautiful young
woman, who had been the wife of a captain in
the merchant navy, but who quitted her husband
and family to share the fortunes of the adven-
turous Baron. He and his mistress were only
the other day present at the ballet of the
Violon du Diable, in a box close to the one
occupied by the Nepaulese Princes, and their
idea was to deprive the distinguished strangers
of the rich ornaments they wear in such profu-
sion on their dress. That this was not done was
merely owing to the accident of the director of
the opera having offered his box to the Princes,
which they accepted.’

““ Since the above was in type, we learn from
the Paris papers that the Hourt ¢ Cerito’ has
achieved that which the bandit ¢ Baron’ failed
to accomplish ! It appears that his Excellency,
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the susceptible Goorkha, chanced to see this
captivating disciple of Terpsichore in the ballet
now performing in Paris, called Le Violon du
Diable, and having been admitted behind the
scenes, beheld the lovely danseuse recumbent
on a couch, and ‘panting’ (so say the re-
porters) after her graceful salutations. This
entrancing spectacle was too much for the
philosophy of the youthful Jung, and accord-
ingly as a trivial earnest of his ecstacy, he
transferred from his own sable wrists to the
snowy ones of the charmer, a magnificent
bracelet of brilliants.”

After a short stay in Paris the mission pro-
ceeded to Marseilles where they embarked for
Alexandria, en route to India.

Upon his arrival at Nepaul, Jung Bahadoor
became the victim of much obloquy. Jealous
of the exalted position and influence he had
acquired, some people about the court con-
spired to displace him from the command of the
army ; and in the attempt to accomplish this

H 2
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end, they found a ready agent in one of the
men who had accompanied him to England.
This man trumped up a story that he had
lost his caste by associating, eating and drinking
with people of a low caste—pariahs, in fact—
for such he regarded the English. Nothing
could be more untrue.

Jung Bahadoor was a most rigid observer
of the usages enjoined by his religion, never
going anywhere unless arrangements could be
made for his dining with his own suite, and
in a retired and exclusive apartment. De-
nounced for his alleged violations of the prac-
tices of devout Brahmins, he took a signal
vengeance on his calumniator.  Assembling
the troops on parade, he called the offender
before him ; and challenging him to an open
accusation, the wretch fell on his knees, de-
clared himself most unworthy, and entreated
pardon. Jung Bahadoor turned upon him like
a tiger, applied to him all the horrible epithets
with which the Hindoo vocabulary abounds, and
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then commanding some soldiers to throw him
to the ground, caused the most shocking indig-
nities to be offered to his person.

This crushed the conspiracy; and from that
time to the present, he has continued unin-
terruptedly in the possession of his office of
Commander-in-Chief.

Of the real objects of the mission of the
Nepaulese General to England, nothing is posi-
tively known though much has been conjectured.
There 1s no doubt that the avowed purpose, that
of merely strengthening the bonds of friendship
between England and Nepaul, was very different
from the real one, for there never was yet a
Nepaulese mission without an arridre pensé€e—
never a glittering parade without a concealed
object. = That Jung Bahadoor suggested the
mission, 1s, we believe, pretty well understood,
and that the gracious reception he experienced
(of which, of course, the most inflated accounts
were dispatched to Khatmandoo) have increased
his personal importance, is equally beyond ques-

tion ; but how it will be, or has been, politically
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turned to account by the sovereign of Nepaul
remains to be seen.

Nepaul certainly had got herself into bad
odour with the government of India by her
unfriendly intrigues with the governments of
Lahore and Gwalior, during the period of our
hostilities with those states—intrigues frustrated
by Lord Ellenborough’s vigilance and determina-
tion—and the Rajah might have supposed that
a complimentary mission, laden with valuable
presents would have smoothed the angry brow
of Great Britain. Or it is possible that Jung
Bahadoor contemplated using the embassy as a
means of impressing her Chinese neighbour,
upon whose territory she casts wistful eyes, with
a belief in her influence at the court of England
—and mayhap of France—and of holding that
influence in terrorem over the heads of the
celestials.

Peace has mnow subsisted between the
Nepaulese and the British for about thirty-
six years, and we see no chance of its being

interrupted. The occupation of a mountainous
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region with no more than forty inhabitants
to the square mile, would be no temptation to
its conquest ; and its 'milita,ry occupation would
be simply the planting of an expensive garrison
in it, which would not merely add to our
strength, but absolutely weaken it by dispersing
our force. Neither do we think the indepen-
dence of the Nepaulese in any danger from the
Chinese, who would by occupying the country
only bring themselves into juxta-position with
a power that they now understand but too
well, and who, they must be well aware, would
not brook the habitual insolence with which
they treat weak neighbours.

The Nepaulese, however, situated as they are
between two nations, both far too formidable to
be resisted, may feel their position awkward and
embarrassing ; and the late mission may have
originated in a desire to ascertain the power,
resources, and Indian policy of the most formid-
able of them. When Hyder Ali was urged
by his captains to invade and conquer the

possessions of the English in the Carnatic, he
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used to say the power in sight was not much,
and he had no fear of it, but that he dreaded
the mysterious one out of sight, and of which
he had no knowledge. The Nepaulese court,
then, may be acting on the principle of desiring
to ascertain the nature of the mysterious power
that is out of sight in Hindustan, and which
bewildered the ablest and most formidable of
our Indian enemies.

But, as we have said above, all speculation
upon the matter is vain and premature. Time
alone can disclose the true purposes of the
mission, and be they “wicked or charitable,”
England has the consolation of knowing that
she 1s armed at all points, and has proved
herself, in all her relations with Nepaul, an
hospitable neighbour, an honest negociator,
and a formidable enemy.
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CHAPTER V.

SIR DAVID OCHTERLONY,

ALTHOUGH the mulitary life, so far as N epaul
1s concerned, of Sir D. Ochterlony, is narrated
in the foregoing pages, it would be a species of
treason to the Indian army—for which I must
always cherish a hvely affection—were 1 not,
in this place, to offer a memoir of one who
was generally regarded by the sepoys as their
father and friend. A history of Nepaul, with-
out a special biography of Ochterlony, would be
like ¢ Hamlet,” without the Prince of Denmark.
I shall endeavour, therefore, to sketch the bio-

graphy of ¢ Lony Ochter,” as the sepoys by
H 3
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an inexplicable transposition called him; omit-
ting all such matters as have already been
detailed.

Dawvid Ochterlony, the son of an emigrant
merchant, was born at Boston, in North
America. His father was a cadet of the
family of Pitforthy, formerly styled of Ochter-
lony, which had possessed lands in the counties
of Forfar and Aberdeen for upwards of two
centuries,

The mother of the future General was an
American lady of the name of Tyler. After
the death of her first husband, which, occur-
ring suddenly, caused derangement in his af-
fairs, she married Sir Isaac Heard, the late
Garter King-at-Arms. Young Ochterlony, left
nearly destitute when about ten years of age,
found an affectionate reception from his uncle,
the Laird of Pitforthy, who put him to school
in Scotland, where, along with the early part
of his education, he imbibed the national feel-
ings of a Scotsman, and continued to cherish
them through life.  This filial attachment to
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home, however, I beg to observe, does not,
as some Englishmen suppose, involve prejudice
against other countries.

On attaining his seventeenth year, the sub-
ject of this sketch went to reside with his
mother in London ; and whilst prosecuting his
classical and mathematical studies, took lessons,
at the request of the Garter King, who wished
to provide for him, in the Herald’s Office. The
pupil, though lastingly grateful for the kindness
of his step-father, could never give his mind to
the art and mystery of blazoning coats of arms.
Meanwhile, Lachlan Maclean, distinguished in
his day, it is said, for great abilities and lax
morals, who a few years since obtained a place
among the many putative authors of ¢ Junius’
Letters,” opportunely offered his patronage in
another line to the backward student of heraldry.
Maclean, when a military surgeon in America,
had contracted a debt to the elder Ochterlony,
which remained unpaid; and having become
Under Secretary of State, and First Commis-
sioner for the affairs of the Nuwab of the



156 MEMORIALS OF NEPAUL.

Carnatic, now showed himself willing to ac-
knowledge an obligation which it was still
inconvenient to discharge, by placing the son
of his creditor in the service of the above
Prince at Madras.

Mr. Ochterlony, readily accepting the offer,
was taken for a short time into the 